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Abstract

Research into the civilian history of the Camp Lejeune study
area, conducted by Coastal Zone Resources during 1980, has resulted
in the accumulation of a large body of data relating to the area
and heretofore unknown. The rate of data yield so far exceeded
expectations that the time budgeted for composition of the report
proved greatly inadequate to cover the entire span of the civilian
history of the study area in an exhaustive manner.

Because the most significant new data pertained to the Colonial
period, treatment of that period has received the most detailed
attention in this report. Of particular interest is the new informa-
tion relating to the early settlement of the area, the early
courthouses, the Colonial wars, and Colonial leaders.

Since virtually all standing structures in the study area were
destroyed in 1941, the evaluations made in this report address them-
selves to the archaeological components which hopefully have sur-
vived and are associated with some of the study area's most important
historical figures. Eighteen specific sites and two classes of sites
(naval stores industrial sites and representative dwelling sites of
the poorer classes) are evaluated in this report as potentially
eligible for nomination to the National Register of Historic Places.
Five recommendations for additional research include (1) further
investigation of the potentially eligible sites, (2) further his-
torical research concentrating on problem areas, (3) a survey of
underwater archaeological resources, (4) an oral history project to
interview former residents of the study area, and (5) an historical
architectural study based on the photographs now in the custody of
the Public Works Office at Camp Lejeune.

The historical research phase has made a significant contribu-
tion to an increased knowledge of Onslow County history. In addition,
a historic sites map for Camp Lejeune has been prepared as an
integral part of the report.
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I. INTRODUCTION ‘

From June through December, 1980, Coastal Zone Resources
Division (CZR) of Ocean Data Systems, Inc., under subcontract
agreement (Purchase Order #209663) with the University of North
Carolina at Wilmington (UNC-W), performed the detailed historical
research resulting in this report, a research document required
in connection with a cultural resource study being carried out
by UNC-W at Camp Lejeune, North Carolina, and New River Air Station
(Helicopter), North Carolina, under Department of the Navy Engi-
neering Contract N62470-79-C-4273. The location of the project
area is shown in Figures 1 and 2. (Figure 2 is enclosed in a
pocket inside the back cover.)

The purposes of this historical research and the resulting
report were (1) to gather detailed historical data on the historic
role of the Camp Lejeune area from earliest settlement to the time
of military acquisition in 1941, (2) to identify the more important
historic sites (see Figure 2) within the Camp Lejeune Military
Reservation, (3) to produce an overview placing the study area
within its historical context, (4) to generate a detailed history of
the study area to serve as a scholarly reference for future profes-
sional studies, and (5) to formulate recommendations for cultural
resource management and any required further historical studies/
investigations.

Under the scope of work, the historical research was to con- ‘
cern itself with the history of the area contained within the
present boundary of the Camp Lejeune Military Reservation, having
a total land area of approximately 85,406 acres, and excluding a
water acreage of 15,765 acres. .In terms of the period to be
researched, the study was to confine itself to the years from
earliest exploration and settlement to the conclusion of the
area's civilian history in 1941.

In the process of the research, the study utilized published,
manuscript, photographic, cartographic, and oral sources of data.
The more specific types of sources included court minutes, deeds,
wills, plats, tax records, inventories, minutes of the board of
county commissioners, land grants and entries, estate records,
guardians' accounts, legislative papers, military records,
correspondence, agency reports, governors' papers, petitions,
miscellaneous loose records, depositions, maps, charts, microfilm
publications, records of Revolutionary War prize cases, post
office records, vessel registrations, census schedules, customs
records, private collections, published books, magazines and
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journals, newspapers, scholarly reports, theses and dissertations,
and personal interviews.

Local, state, and national repositories of pertinent records
were visited for the purpose of pursuing the in-depth research.
The most important repositories (archives and collections)
visited include the Onslow County Court House, Jacksonville, NC;
the North Carolina Division of Archives and History, Raieigh,

NC; the Land Grant Office, Raleigh, NC; the National Archives,
Washington, DC; the Library of Congress, Washington, DC; the

East Carolina Manuscript Collection, East Carolina University, _
Greenville, NC; the Southern Historical Collection and the North
Carolina Collection, the University of North Carolina, Chapel
Hill, NC; the Duke University Manuscript Collection, Durham, NC;
the Hayes Collection, a private collection normally at Edenton,
NC, but at the time on loan to the Southern Historical Collection
for indexing and microfilming; the State Museum of Natural
History, Raleigh, NC; the State Library, Raleigh, NC; the Carteret
County Court House, Beaufort, NC; the Mariners Museum, Newport
News, VA; the UNC-W Library, Wilmington, NC; the personal library
of Mr. Tucker R. Littleton, Swansboro, NC; land records and

survey maps in the Public Works Office, Marine Corps Base, Camp
Lejeune, NC; and personal interviews conducted at Jacksonville

and Swansboro, NC. In addition, the principal investigator freely
contributed to this project information from his personal research
files consisting of over 20,000 notecards on local history compiled
by himself over the past 20 years and with the assistance of Mr.
Roger E. Kammerer, Jr., in recent years.

The research performed by CZR encountered several very real
problems, some of which were anticipated. Believing that the
intent of the survey was to conduct a reasonably exhaustive
research and produce a definitive history, CZR had originally
proposed a considerably larger number of man-hours for the
research than was ultimately accepted under the terms of contract.
From the outset, it became apparent that the vast holdings of the
major repositories confronted the researcher with a volume of
available sources which overwhelmed the effort in view of the
constraints on time and budget. Consequently, the investigation
had to become much more selective of research sources and docu-
ments than was desirable in light of the broader research goals.

Still another problem encountered and, to some extent,
anticipated was the lack of surviving landmarks as reference
points. The removal of above-ground structures following military
acquisition of the land virtually negated all efforts to pinpoint
precisely the locations of former historic structures and sites.
The problem of locating potential historical archaeological




resources was further compounded by problems inherent in the
source documents themselves, problems involving vague location
descriptions of land and improvements associated therewith, the
use of obsolete place names no longer identified on existing
maps or known to living former residents of the area, and
occasionally conflicting information. In addition, the duplica-
tion of some place names--particularly streams and creeks--left
many locations only tentatively identified.

The result is that many of the sites identified in Figure 2
are mere approximations. Other sites are yet unmapped because
the vagueness of the presently available information renders
any venture to pinpoint the locations too risky. It has been
deemed better to leave such sites off Figure 2 than to contribute
to the growing volume of historical misinformation already
plaguing the researcher into Onslow County history. To insure
greater accuracy in cartographically locating the area's historic
sites, the principal investigator spent time touring the area
under the guidance of former resident of the study area and
local historian, Mr. K. B. Hurst, of Jacksonville, NC.

The focus of the research effort has been to discover and
to describe the characters, the circumstances, and the events
determining the social, cultural, and ecénomic history of the
project area. In so doing, considerable attention has been paid
to the role of the various ethnic and national groups included
in the area's historic population. Research into the area's
historic utilization of its natural resources has sought to
identify the major economic activities, the diversity of occupa-
tions, the comparative value of the utilized resources, and the
influence of the economic factors on the overall social and
cultural aspects of the area's history. Additional attention has
been paid to historic settlement patterns in the area, as well as
to patterns of immigration and emigration.

A major effort was made to identify a variety of historic
sites and to include among the identified sites the former resi-
dences of the area's principal historical figures. Further effort
was aimed at identifying the major currents in the history of the
study area, its most significant events, activities, and personali-
ties. After assessing the nature and importance of the local
history, the investigation has endeavored to determine the role
of the project area in the history of the state and the nation,
noting both the study area's similarities and differences in
comparison with the dominant character and trends of the larger
historic setting.




Considering the allowed time and budget, the results of
the research have been very gratifying. Answers to some long-
unsolved questions have been found, including clarification
concerning the county's first court house. Not the least important
is the fact that this report has produced the first detailed
mapping of the area's identified historic sites. Perhaps most
important, this investigation has undertaken the most extensive
original research into the area's history ever attempted, and
the result has been the preparation of a professional historical
work comprising a major contribution to local history relating
to the Camp Lejeune area and, for that matter, Onslow County.

In the conduct of the research, Wesley K. Hall and Mary Ann
Stephenson each devoted a total of better than two weeks to the
examination of pertinent records. Almost six months' time was
devoted to the research phase by Tucker R. Littleton, principal
investigator/research historian for the project. Thomas Clemmons
prepared the graphics under the guidance of Mr. Littleton, who
is the sole author of this report.




II. EVALUATION OF PREVIOUS HISTORICAL RESEARCH

Except for minor, scattered articles relating either totally
or partially to the study area, only two previous historians of
any consequence have delved into the civilian history of the Camp
Lejeune Military Reservation or written upon that subject. Like
the county at large, the present study area has been quite ne-
glected by historians at the regional and state levels. Serious
efforts to rescue from oblivion or permanently record the notable
events and persons of Onslow County's history have occurred only
during the present century.

Though Dr. Cyrus Thompson was appointed the county's first
official historian, he left no permanent or noteworthy record of
his knowledge of local history or of any research conducted by
him. The first meaningful, original historical research and writ-
ing on the subject of Onslow County history was undertaken by the
late Fitzhugh Lee Morris, former official genealogist for the Sons
of the American Revolution in North Carolina. Though Morris con-
centrated on information contained in the official records of the
county and state and devoted his major research to genealogical
questions, he is due great credit for also researching some of the
major themes and events of Onslow history and for laying a solid
foundation upon which subsequent local historians have built. 1In
his purely historical research, Morris put major emphasis on the
Colonial history of Onslow County and the lives of the county's
most prominent leaders and founding families. His writings re-
lating to the study area were incidental to his interest in the
history of the county as a whole and his special interest in such
families as the Sneads, Dudleys, and Wards. Morris authored
numerous articles which were contributed to several newspapers in
North Carolina, especially a series on county history written for
the Onslow Record in the late 1920's. His manuscript history of
the Dudley family, with considerable material on such allied fami-
lies as the Sneads, is in the possession of the Genealogy Section
of the State Library. Morris acquired a reputation for detailed
original research, meticulous analysis of his data, and an extreme
degree of accuracy (Brown 1960:368). Perhaps the most important

results of his historical research have been preserved in J. Parsons

Brown's The Commonwealth of Onslow: A History, in which some of
Morris's material has been included virtually verbatim.

Because he was a pioneer in Onslow County history, Morris
did not succeed in writing on the broader subject range of county
history, nor did he ccllect and publish all his historical writings
under one cover. He did, however, set the example for later
research, and he appears to have been the first to make extensive




use of the county court minutes as a valuable source for county
history of the period 1732-1868. Unfortunately, Morris's exceed-
ingly valuable notebooks on historical and genealogical research
disappeared shortly after the death of the last of his four
brothers and sisters who survived him. Though never officially
honored with the title, Morris was nevertheless in fact Onslow's
first county historian.

The second person to research and write upon the history
of Onslow County, and thus the history of the present study
area, was the late Joseph Parsons Brown, whose published work has
been referred to above. Because Brown could build upon and ex-
pand on the earlier work of Morris, he was able to treat the
county's history more broadly and somewhat more comprehensively.
However, the fact that Brown was forced to conduct his additional
research in his spare time and at his own expense slowed his
progress and kept him from being able to write a truly adequate
or definitive history of Onslow County. Considering their limi-
tations and circumstances, both Morris and Brown performed a very
creditable work and have left future researchers greatly in their
debt. Until the present research and writing of this report,
Brown's history remained the sirgle most important published
account of the civilian history of the Camp Lejeune area. Brown's
major contributions to the history of the study area lie in his
chapters on the formation of the county, the Colonial period,
the Revolutionary War, the Civil War leadership, and churches of
the area.

In comparison with Morris, Brown does not enjoy quite the
same reputation for accuracy. Though in a few instances misled
by the primary sources themselves, Brown is primarily guilty of
inaccuracies which have crept into his history through his un-
critical acceptance of oral tradition and of those portions of
his book contributed by other writers. A major fault of the work
is its lack of logical or chronological organization. The docu-
mentation and indexing are woefully inadequate. Nevertheless, 20
years after its publication, Brown's book is the best treatment
of Onslow County history presently available. Because many
important sources of information were not researched, Brown lacks
a lot of detailed history on a number of subjects, and some
aspects of local history are either untreated or only slightly
addressed. Needless to say, the status of earlier historical
research has made the present research project far more necessary
and its findings a more valuable contribution to the on-going
quest for a comprehensive and authoritative history of the study
area and of Onslow County.




III. METHODOLOGY

Several facts had great bearing on the development of the
methodological approach to this research project. First of
all, very little attention--either at the state or local level--
has ever been paid to Onslow County history. With the exception
of the two county historians discussed in Chapter II, virtually
no one else has published anything about the history of the
Camp Lejeune area--at least nothing more than brief articles
dealing either very superficially with the county's history or
else very specifically with a single, narrow subject. The lack
of good published sources meant that the present research would
have to rely extraordinarily on primary sources---official docu-
ments and manuscript collections.

In addition, no local newspaper for Onslow County appeared
before the last decade of the nineteenth century, and there are
no extant copies of the several earliest newspapers in the
county. For that reason, the important newspaper sources of
local historical data would have to come primarily from news-
papers published in Wilmington, New Bern, and Raleigh. The
remoteness of those publications often resulted in many news-
worthy events going unreported and certainly inadequately or
inaccurately covered at times. It was realized that the lack of
a good local newspaper for almost the first two centuries of the
county's existence would certainly create many information gaps
in the search for the types of information not normally derived
from official records. As a compensation for the absence of a
local newspaper, greater attention had to be paid to publications
in nearby counties, to business directories, and various types
of reports.

Furthermore, much misinformation about the county's history
has been published in the available printed sources, and even
the official county records contain not a few errors which have
crept in through the recopying of old and dilapidated grant
records and deed books. The existence of such inaccuracies
required constant vigilance and critical evaluation of the col-
lected data. It was evident that the research would at times
necessitate great detail and re-evaluation of the enlarged body
of information. Therefore, areas of known or suspected erroneous
information were targeted for special research etfort.

In formulating the research strategy, the principal investi-
gator determined to base the initial research on the broadest
possible diversity of sources, consistent with the goals of the
project and the established constraints of budget and time.
Examination c¢f a broad range of sources, it was reasoned, would



accommodate the following: (1) maximum immediate identification
of potential sources, research materials, and repositories; (2)
assessment of the relative importance of the identified data
sources; (3) determination of which sources should receive major
subsequent investigation; (4) determination of the number and
nature of these unused or minimally used sources which should be
examined in any second or continuing phase of this project; and
(5) a more reliable basis for estimating time and funding require-
ments in the event follow-up research should be recommended.

A reasonably complete list of the diversified types of sources
sampled has been given in Chapter I.

After sampling the variety of research sources, the princi-
pal investigator endeavored to formulate a basis for selecting
those sources which should receive major utilization. Prepara-
tory to this selection, an effort was made to determine to some
extent those specific subjects or historical periods needing
the greatest research attention to remedy deficiency in earlier
treatment. In addition, an effort was made to identify those
important sources most inadequately used in earlier research
efforts. Thus the formula for selecting major sources took into
consideration the following factors: (1) value or importance of
the kind of information contained therein, (2) amount of pre-
viously unused but pertinent data contained therein, (3) rate of
data return for time required to research the source, (4) relia-
bility of the source, (5) immediate applicability of the data to
the study area, and (6) accessibility of the source or repository.

At this point in the development of the research design, it
was decided that, consistent with the research tasks and objec-
tives specified in the scope-of-work for the Camp Lejeune project,
the most extensively researched sources should be the official
records--primarily the court minutes, deeds, and wills recorded
for Onslow County. Secondary research emphasis appeared to be
merited by two types of published records--the printed volumes of
The Colonial and State Records of North Carolina and eastern
North Carolina newspapers of the eighteenth and nineteenth cen-
turies.

With respect to the subjects or historical periods which
should receive the primary research focus, it was decided that
the period from 1713 to 1815 should claim the greatest attention.
There were several considerations which led to this conclusion:
(1) the Colonial period (from colonization to 1776) is founda-
tional to any study of the county's history, (2) the later
history of the study area can be adequately understood and ap-
preciated only in the light of a proper awareness of earlier
historical developments and cultural phenomena, (3) the period




from 1713 (when the area was opened up for settlement following
the end of the Tuscarora War) to 1815 (when the War of 1812 ended)
was undeniably the most historically significant period in the
entire history of the study area, (4) the eighteenth century coin-
cided with the period when Onslow and the study area played the
most important role in the history of the state and nation, (5)
the eighteenth century appeared to be marked by the greatest
industrial diversity and economic importance of any single segment
of the area's history, (6) the years 1713-1815 appear to be the
most inadequately researched and poorly understood period in the
study area's history, and (7) most of the published misinformation
on Onslow County history relates to the eighteenth century.

Specific subjects which appear to have received too little
previous research attention include historical treatment of early
settlement and settlement patterns, industrial activities, social
history, the role of ethnic groups, local government administration
and the rise of a ruling class, patterns of migration, agricultural
history, maritime history, the growing interest in internal improve-
ments, development of educational institutions, events leading up
to the Revolution, and the wars of the late Colonial period such as
the War of Jenkins's Ear, the French and Indian War, and the War of
the Regulators. Even in nineteenth-century history, inadequate at-
tention has been paid to the War of 1812, the primacy of the planter
class, the growth of small communities and post offices, epidemics,
natural calamities, deepening social problems, the character of
local politics, the decline and ultimate demise of the naval stores
industry, the lumber boom, the Secession Movement, the Civil War,
the effects of the Civil War and Reconstruction on the quality of
life, and the area's entrance into the twentieth century.

Quite admittedly, the present study has had neither adequate
time nor funding to explore the above topics to the full extent
desirable. Nevertheless, the need for research in those areas was
recognized near the outset, and the major research effort was de-
signed to contribute as much new information on those subjects as
possible within the set limits of this contract.

Since the present historical research project had contract
limitations on budgeted time and funding, the project's possible
accomplishments were limited by the same factors. The result,
nevertheless, has been to increase greatly the amount of avail-
able historical information relating to the study area, to fill
in many gaps, to expose previously published historical errors,
and to present the area's history in the light of its contextual
evolvement. Any deficiencies remaining in the product of this
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research project can be remedied only by the provision of ample
future time and funding to bring the research to a satisfactory
conclusion--the exhausting of all available sources that ought

reasonably to be examined and utilized.

In the conduct of the research, all essential, pertinent in-
formation was abstracted from the utilized sources and transferred
to 4" x 6" note cards. The note cards were given subject headings
and dated either with the date of occurrence, if known, or the
date when the information first appeared in writing, if the former
date was not known. Each note card included its proper documenta-
tion. For the reader's convenience in verifying historical
information, it was decided in cases of multiple sources of the
same data to reference the most accessible source. As a general
rule, published sources were usually cited instead of the less
accessible manuscript sources except in cases where the manuscript
or primary source contained important data not included in the
published source. For the foregoing reason of greater accessi-
bility, most information derived from the Onslow County deeds and
wills is documented by the appropriate reference to Zae Hargett
Gwynn's Abstracts of the Records of Onslow County, North Carolina,
which by now can be found in virtually all the good public libraries
in the state.

Upon completion of the note-taking portion of the research,
the principal investigator organized the resulting file of cards
alphabetically by subject and chronologically by period. Once
all the data had been grouped by related subjects and delineated
by historical periods, the assembled facts were reviewed, analyzed,
and synthesized in final form to permit composition of the report
to begin.

As a part of the research and the report preparation, time
was devoted to the production of a historic sites map for Camp
Lejeune. Some of the problems encountered in the effort to deter-
mine precise site locations are discussed in Chapter I. If the
findings relating to any one historic site were inconclusive as
to approximate location, that site was intentionally not indicated
on the map (Figure 2). The principal investigator believes that
when reasonable doubt exists the historian or writer should not
make positive assertions or insinuate the reliability of assumptions
since it is much easier subsequently to add new information after it
has been confirmed than to recall hastily disseminated historical
inaccuracies. For that reason, several sites for which an "educated
guess" could have been made have been left out of Figure 2, awaiting
future clarification and more conclusive evidence. In addition, to
aid in the location of geographical place names appearing in the
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historical text, the author of this report attempted to add to
Figure 2 the names of several creeks or branches, points, and
landings not identified on the six topographic quadrangle maps
which served as the base map for Figure 2.

The resulting history, employing the previously outlined
methodology, follows immediately hereupon. Wherever valuable
details were accumulated but would prove disruptive to the
historical narrative if incorporated into the main text, such
massive details have been relegated to the appendices at the
end of the report following the sections on evaluation and
recommendations. The accompanying bibliography further indi-
cates the diversity of research sources utilized.
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IV. A DETAILED CIVILIAN HISTORY OF THE CAMP LEJEUNE STUDY AREA ‘
TO 1941

A. Historical Introduction
1. General Introductiosn

Despite the fact that Carraway (1946:29) wrote in her
early history of Camp Lejeune that it is "located in an historic
part of Onslow County," some of the subsequent writers on the
history of the military reservation have given the impression
that the government acquired for the base an almost no-man's-
land, a veritable wilderness without antecedent cultural history |
and still virtually in an untamed state at the time of military |
acquisition. Insinuating that the unfavorable topography of the
area had contributed to an almost uninhabitable character of the
place, military histories tended to be introduced by such state-
ments as that of the author who wrote, "In 1941, construction
activities to carve a military reservation out of 200 square miles
of swampland and sand dunes began" (Anonymous n.d.:6).

To the unknowing eye, the vast pine forests were only un-
improved land in an area of little or no economic importance. The
newcomer did not recognize that the "piny lands" were really "tur-
pentine orchards" which for almest two centuries had constituted
much of the economic backbone of the county and had stimulated the
development of early culture and growth. Ignorance of the past .
usually assumes a lack of history. Against such erroneous notions,
the purpose of this study is to reveal the real character, vitality,
and importance of the historic residents of the Camp Lejeune study
area, their activities, culture, developments, and contributions
to the rest of the county, state, and nation.

2. Geopolitical Location

Geopolitically, the study area began its history and
settlement as a part of the proprietary colony of North Carolina
and the County of Bath. In 1705 Archdale Precinct was created as a
subdivision of Bath County, and in 1712 the precinct's name was
changed to Craven, which then included the area now within Camp
Lejeune. In 1722 Craven Precinct was divided to form the new
Carteret Precinct containing the present study area. In 1729
North Carolina became a royal colony. That same year New Hanover
Precinct was taken out of Carteret and Craven and extended from
the South Carolina line northward as far as Little Inlet, a now
extinct inlet then located approximately midway between New River
Inlet and Brown's Inlet. The rest of what later became Onslow
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remained in Carteret Precinct until 23 November 1731 (0ld Style),
when Governor George Burrington issued his order creating Onslow
Precinct out of the two precincts of Carteret and New Hanover.
Because of the objections of the Lower House of Assembly, Onslow
Precinct of Bath County was not "confirmed" until 19 February
1734, 014 style (2 March 1735, New Style). In 1739 the several
precincts of Bath County, including Onslow, were elevated to
county status, thereby abolishing the parent county. Since the
latter date, however, the New River area has remained unaffected
by any new changing political boundaries or further political
subdivision. The study area became a part of the free state of
North Carolina in 1776 and the Confederate States of .Amerca in
1861-1865 (Corbitt 1950).

3. Geographical Influences

To place the unfolding history of the lower New River
in a proper context, one must give consideration to the natural
setting and the influence of geography upon subsequent exploration,
settlement, and development. Geographically, the present study
area lies on the Outer Coastal Plain of North Carolina just south
of the central coast. The area faces south to the Atlantic Ocean
and borders the middle shoreline of Onslow Bay. Comprised of
barrier islands, sounds, marshlands, swamps, creeks, large es-
tuaries, and uplands, the terrain enjoys considerable variation
in character and elevation when compared with much of the state's
coastal region.

Geographical factors constitute probably the most power-
ful determinants in the historical development of any locality.
As with the rest of eastern North Carolina, so it was that geogra-
phy determined that the economy of Onslow County would be based
primarily on agriculture and forest products for the first two
centuries. Topography, soil, and climate combined to make the
study area ideal for growing crops, and the large pine forests
formed the basis of an early naval stores industry (Camp 1963:7).
The climate permitted the growth of rice, indigo, corn, cotton,
and tobacco, most of which at one time or another would become
important crops. Such agricultural activities, along with the
importance of naval stores manufacture, also predetermined the
area's advantageous alliance with the slave labor system and fos-
tered the early plantation system, which further entrenched the
dependence on the institution of slavery. The coastal topography
favored large land holdings, and thus began the rise of a landed
gentry and the accumulation of wealth by a sort of limited
aristocracy (Lemert 1935:304-305). .
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The natural waterways determined that most early travel
would follow the streams, and the numerous small streams and swamps
tended to allow only short, rough roads and generally poor land
transportation interrupted by those often swollen streams. Settle-
ments would remain small or grow slowly because of a lack of good
ports resulting from the poor access by ocean-going vessels through
the small, shallow inlets. Those same small inlets would act as
a throttle to economic growth for many years and would limit the
rise of a prosperous wealthy class to the mere handful of landed
gentry (Ibid.).

Geography had its effect, too, on settlement. Location,
topography, climate, and soil were often discouraging influences
on settlement of the North Carolina coast during the early Colonial
period. Exposure to the yearly storms and hurricanes (see Appendix
A) probably drove many potential settlers further inland. Environ-
mental factors, poor transportation, and a scattered agrarian
population reinforced the area's isolation and often tended to
isolate the various sections within the county itself. Though such
environmental factors and the isolation they produce usually are
attended by influences preventing homogeneity of thought and ac-
tivities, the one offsetting influence in the New River area was
the unifying religious ties of the early settler, most of whom
were drawn into the Baptist movement. The geographical isolation,
nevertheless, tended to keep the whole county comparatively back-
ward throughout much of its history and kept the countryside dotted
with small farms, hard-working rural families, and the outward
symbols of a generally poor class of citizens. While geographic,
human, and economic influences kept North Carolina generally an
agricultural state until 1880, they kept Onslow County and the
study area agricultural land right on up to 1941 (Ibid.:297).

Inasmuch as agricultural communities have little need
for large concentrations of population and usually witness only a
slow growth of towns, it is not surprising that such was precisely
true of Onslow County and especially the study area. The few towns
that eventually developed were for many years mostly small group-
ings of traders and merchants. A further limiting factor in the
area's history relates to the smaller human population carrying
capacity of agricultural counties. While population naturally
increases, good farm land does not. Once again geography and the
agrarian nature of Onslow society would join to produce a major
¢urrent in the history of the area. As the natural population
increased, the availability of large tracts of farm land would
decrease. Soil exhaustion and lack of new lands to cultivate
would eventually have a disastrous effect on the county. Rising
generations with no new prospective farm land at home would be
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forced to look for farms elsewhere, and in due time Onslow County
would become one of the state's major exporters of population (see
Appendix B). When new lands would become available to the west

and southwest, the great exodus of industrious, enterprising young
farmers would begin. The large tracts available, the cheap prices,
the attraction for cotton plantations, and the hopeless futurity at
home would send a steady stream of Onslow's sons and daughters into
South Carolina, Georgia, Florida, Alabama, Mississippi, Louisiana,
Arkansas, Tennessee, Kentucky, Texas, and the territories beyond
(Ibid.:309-311). No section of Onslow County would be more deeply
involved in this migration than the present study area. Thus the
area would lose some of its best stock and most promising families
to the antebellum migrations.

The geographic factors were inseparably linked to the
natural resources and those occupations associated therewith.
Attention has been drawn to the area's suitability for farming,
but the presence of large estuaries and the proximity to the ocean
inclined the settlers to suach related industries as commercial
fishing, shipbuilding, and saltmaking. The native pine forests
which spurred the early naval stores trade eventually encouraged
the lumber boom of the late 1800's and early 1900's. The numerous
streams were an early stimulus to grist milling, and large tracts
of marshlands and meadows made livestock raising inevitable. Thus
when the first settlement of the area began, the future lines of
economic development and the character of local history were
already predetermined to a large extent by the predictable inter-
actions of man with his environment and the natural resources.

4. Human Resources

Perhaps almost equally important with the geographic
factors in influencing the course of local history are the human
resources, the quality of the people, and the nature of the cultural
environment which has molded their ideas, values, and perspectives.
Ethnic origin, social status, education, religion, political phi-
losophies, and historical background are paramount influences in
determining the character of a people. In this light, the history
of the study area was determined by the tide of immigrants who took
up residence during the formative years from the 1720's until the
Revolution. The vast majority came from English and Scottish stock,
with the eventually second largest group being African slaves. The
remaining European elements were Welsh and Irish, followed by French
and German settlers. No Asiatic peoples are known to have migrated
to Onslow County before the twentieth century.
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One of the most powerful influences in the early cultural
environment of the New River area was religion. The settlers were
thoroughly Protestant, and the majority had embraced the Baptist
persuasion to the extent that the Anglican minister at Bath,
Alexander Stewart, in 1761 called Onslow Precinct "the present seat
of enthusiasm" among the Baptists in the state. The present dom-
inance of the Baptist denomination in Onslow County can be directly
traced to the early zeal and progress made by them in the first few
decades of Onslow's history (Paschal 1930). In addition to molding
character and instilling mores, religion also affected the political
scene. Paschal (Ibid.) has noted that the Revolution never lacked
support in these areas where the Baptists were numerous.

Likewise the importance of the high percentage of
British stock lies in their political philosophy and the role it
would play in the growing struggle for liberty. It should ke
remembered that the English-speaking peoples were the heirs of
that long striving of the British to diminish royal prerogatives
and gradually to secure increasing rights for the common man.
Theirs was the Magna Carta and the brief experience in self-rule
under the Cromwellian Protectorate. The same desire for self-
determination and a larger measure of personal freedom had driven
many of these early Onslow settlers or their recent ancestors to
flee the strangling grip of their narrow homeland to see for
themselves what they could do with opportunity and freedom frcm
the more repressive influences to which they had been subjected
in the mother country. In foreseeing their role in the Revolution,
one remembers that no one ever values liberty more than those who
have had a taste thereof.

In addition, it should be pointed out that perhaps 100
or more of Onslow's earliest families--certainly a majority of
the families before 1750--had moved into Onslow from Bertie County
in the Albemarle section of North Carolina (see Appendices B and
C). There those families were involved in the state's earliest
rebellions against authority--Culpeper's Rebellion and Cary's
Rebellion (Rankin 1962). William Crawford, the first official
Onslow Clerk of Court, appears to have been a descendant of the
William Crawford of Pasquotank who was a member of the "Rebel
Parliament" of Albemarle in 1677 and 1678 and one of the principal
leaders of Culpeper's Rebellion (Ibid.:69; Parker 1979:457-458;
Cf. Grimes 1910:86; and the Onslow County Court Minutes for the
April term of court, 1733). Thomas Jenkins, one of Onslow County's
first justices of the peace, appears also to have been a descendant
of the William Crawford who was a leader of Culpeper's Rebellion
(Grimes 1910:86). In fact, it may have been a long-inherited

17



dissatisfaction with the political unrest in the Albemarle region
which prompted so many from that area to move to Onslow. It is

almost certain that those early settlers had little toleration for
abusive power in office and had strong notions about the rights of

the people and the role of rebellion in maintaining those rights.

With so much of the early Onslow population drawn from the Albemarle

political environment, the love of liberty which would later put
Onslow solidly in the Revolution was no surprise development. It
was innately characteristic of the area's human resources.

If anything, the natural environment only intensified
the commitment of Onslow's early citizens to the defense of
liberty. The area's virtual inaccessibility by sea made it one
of the most remote sections of the coast. Such remoteness en-
courages rebellion, independence, and a jealous desire for
autonomy (Lemert 1935:305-306). Thus in molding one of the
dominant qualities of early Onslow citizenry, the geographical
isolation merely supported the people's historical predilection
for personal and political liberty. Only against the backdrop
of the interwoven fabric of geography, environment, and previous
human experience can the unfolding drama of the succeeding years
of Onslow history be rightly understood and appreciated.

The evolving history of the study area related in the
following pages will demonstrate the reliability of these intro-
ductory assessments. These ensuing pages will clearly reveal the
importance of the foregoing determining influences on the area's
history and the measure to which those influences, though modifi-
able, remained to some degree inescapable and have left their
permanent imprint on the life of the county and study area. In
conclusion, it should be noted that it was that role of geography
and the continually evolving course of history which decreed the
acquisition of the study area by the federal government in 1941.

B. Exploration

0ddly enough, more 1s known about sixteenth-century explora-
tion in the vicinity of the present study area than about
exploration of the area in the seventeenth century or even the
first decade of the eighteenth century. Considerable exploration
of the Onslow coast and the New River area must have occurred
during the several decades immediately preceding settlement, but
unfortunately there is so far as presently known a total silence
on the subject of exploration of the Onslow County area between
1590 and the 1710's. Though several grants for land on New River
and Brown's Sound were issued between 1713 and 1720, almost
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nothing is known today about the people who explored the area in
the late 1600's or very early 1700's, just when the area began to
be extensively explored, or how those early explorers viewed the
land.

The earliest account of exploration off the coast of what
is now Onslow County appears to be that of Giovanni da Verrazzano,
- who in the early summer of 1524 sailed up the coast of what later
became North Carolina and recorded contact with the aboriginal
inhabitants. Verrazzano recorded that from latitude 34° north
(the Cape Fear area) he ran along the coast northward until he
reached a section where he found the coastline to trend toward
the east. Verrazzano was close enough to the shore that at night
he could see everywhere the great fires built by the Indians.
Though he found no harbor on this part of the coast, Verrazzano
attempted to send a boat and 25 men in search of water. Here the
Indians came down to the shore and, in the words of Verrazzano, made
great "signs of friendship" (Corbitt 1953:142-143).

It is interesting to note that Verrazzano did not attempt to
send anyone ashore until after he had sailed up from Cape Fear
to an area where the coastline trended eastward. Any good modern
map of North Carolina will show that the curve of Onslow Bay pro-
duces a shoreline which in the vicinity of Onslow County takes an
east-northeastward direction and could be described as trending
eastward. It is possible that Verrazzano was still south of Bogue
Inlet, for from Bogue Inlet to Beaufort Inlet the shoreline extends
almost due east until it begins to curve southeastward near Cape
Lookout. His words trending eastward seem to imply a direc-
tion not quite as near due east as the shoreline of Bogue Banks
(or Island). Between Cape Fear and Bogue Inlet, the most nearly
eastward-trending section of coastline occurs between New River
Inlet and Bogue Inlet.

Furthermore, Verrazzano remarked that the coast where he sent
his men ashore had no harbor. That comment appears to refer to
the smallness of the inlets along the North Carolina coast. Dur-
ing the Colonial period, the best inlets in Onslow County were
Bear Inlet and Bogue Inlet, which had only moderate depth. De-
spite its large estuary, New River historically had a constricted
inlet, most of the time only thrze feet deep on low water
(Crittenden 1930:437), and difficult to navigate. The other
inlets in Onslow--Brown's Inlet, Little Inlet, and Stump Inlet--
were equally inferior. Consequently, the Onslow coastline had
no good harbor. It appears, therefore, that on at least two
counts Verrazzano's description fits what is known of the Onslow
coast historically.
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There is no way to prcve conclusively where Verrazzano was
when he made his first contact with the Indians north of the Cape
Fear, but there remains in his account the suggestion that he
might have been somewhere on the barrier islands of Onslow
County--possibly even within the present study area. Recorded
Indian sites on the barrier islands of Onslow County (Loftfield
1976) certainly give added support to the possibility of a visit
by Verrazzano. Even if Verrazzano's contact with the Indians oc-
curred as far up as Bogue Banks, he is still the first explorer
sailing along the Onslow coast to leave a record of the evidence
of native inhabitants visible from the sea.

The next suggestion of exploration of the coast of the present
study area occurs in Ralph Lane's record of Sir Richard Grenville's
voyage in 1585 (Corbitt 1953:31). The exploring party on 23 June
1585 (0.S.) came dangerously close to wrecking in the vicinity of
Cape Fear (Quinn and Quinn 1973:17, 139). Continuing on up the
coast, the party on the 24th found a harbor where they entered
long enough to catch some fish and then resume their voyage. Two
days later (June 26th) the vessels arrived in the area just below
Ocracoke (near Wocokon). The fishing trip on the 24th occurred
approximately one-third of the way between Cape Fear and Wocokon if
it can be assumed that the passage of sailing time corresponded
fairly evenly to the distance covered. This calculation suggests
the possibility that the Grenville expedition may have caught their
fish in what are now the waters of Onslow.

In addition, John White, artist and mapmaker, is known to have
been a member of the 1585 exploring party (Ibid.:18, 140). It was
evidently during the portion of the voyage on 23-26 June 1585 (0.S.)
that White gained his first acquaintance with the Onslow Bay coast-
line. The portion of White's 1585 map (see Figure 3) for the area
between Cape Fear and Cape Lookout shows amazing familiarity with
the large estuaries of two rivers emptying into what appears to be
Onslow Bay. New River, White Oak River, and Newport River have
unusually large estuaries in proportion to their length, and the
latter two rivers have several islands dotting their estuaries
and appear to be so represented on White's map. The second
river from the left margin of Figure 3 appears to be New River,
and just east of the presumed New River lies a small stream which
appears to be Bear Creek and Bear Inlet, since that was the only
easily nav1gable inlet between New River Inlet and Bogue Inlet.
William P. Cumming, noted authority on the maps of the southeastern
United States, believes White was trying to merge information taken
from Le Moyne's earlier map with observations personally made by
White in the area of the coast just north of Cape Fear (William P.
Cumming, 1980, personal interview). This theory could explain the
reasons for the greater detail and accuracy on White's map of the
section of the coast between Cape Fear and Chesapeake Bay.
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If the foregoing interpretation of White's map has any basis
in fact, such familiarity could have come only from personal
acquaintance with the rivers involved. Grenville's expedition was
accompanied by smaller boats which should have been capable of
entering either of the abovementioned rivers. In view of the
overall evidence, it seems likely that the 1585 explorers may have
touched shore in what is now Onslow County and may have caught
their fish either in Onslow or Carteret County. For White to possess
the knowledge required to represent Newport River and White Oak River
so accurately on his 1585 map, made upon White's first voyage to North
America, the explorers had to examine at least the estuaries of
the aforesaid two rivers; and one of those estuaries must certainly
have been the place where those Englishmen caught their first fish
on the North American continent.

The next exploration possibly involving the study area occurred
in 1587 in connection with the voyage of the famous "Lost Colony."
John White himself recorded the narrative of the 1587 voyage, and the
applicable section reads thus: "About the 16th of July, we fell with
the main of Virginia [that area now known as North Carolina)l], which
Simon Fernando took to be the Island of Croatan, where we came to
an anchor, and rode there two or three days. But finding himself
deceived, he weighed [anchor], and bare along the coast, where in
the night, had not Captain Stafford been more careful in looking
out than our Simon Fernando we had been all cast away upon the
breach called the Cape of Feare, for we were come within two
cables' length upon it. Such was the carelessness and ignorance
of our master" (Quinn and Quinn 1973:97).

Concerning the above, Quinn and Quinn comment thus: "Cape of
Feare: White was aware of the existence of a cape in the position
of the modern Cape Fear, but he called what we now know as Cape
Lookout 'Cape Feare.' His story of this landing would fit in with
a position between the two capes, and on the Carolina Outer Banks"
(Ibid.:163). The two or three days which the "Lost Colony" crew
members spent at anchor near the island mistaken by Fernando for
the Island of Croatan may very possibly have been one of the barrier
islands of present-day Onslow County, for the Onslow coast occupies
the approximate center of the span between Cape Fear and Cape Lookout.

In addition, as Fernando resumed the voyage after the two or
three days' stop, his failure to observe the changes in the direction
of the coastline caused him to come dangerously close to running his
vessel on shore. It seems likely that this danger was encountered
in the area between Bogue Inlet and Cape Lookout because Fernando
did not anticipate the sudden eastward direction of the coast in
this vicinity. Thus in the darkness--assuming that Fernando was
maintaining a northeast or east-northeast course--he would eventually
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have run ashore (probably near Shackelford Banks) if Captain Stafford
had not been more observant. The approximate location of this

near disaster during the night would certainly imply that when

the voyage had been resumed earlier that day the wvessels were

then near present-day Onslow.

The last exploring party to record a possible contact with
the study area before the sixteenth century came to a close was
the crew of John White's 1590 voyage. His narrative for the
period of 3-12 August 1590 (0.S.) has particular interest. One
important consideration should be pointed out before further
examination is made of White's narrative. David B. Quinn, re-
nowned authority on the early exploration of the New World, has
noted that White's latitudes do not match his landmarks accurately.
When White estimated that he was in 35° latitude north, Quinn and
Quinn (1973:171) conclude that White was not that far north--
probably at only 34°40'N. Again, White reported "Hatarask" to be
located at 36°20'N., which Quinn and Quinn (Ibid.:172) say should
have been given as only 35°50'N. Thus it would appear that White's
estimates of latitude were ranging from 20 to 30 minutes too far
north. The following portion of White's 1590 narrative should be
read with this error in latitudes kept in mind.

White's narrative is quoted beginning with his entry for 3
August 1590 (0.S.): "The third [of August] we stood again in for
the shore, and at midday we took the height [latitude] of the same.
The height of that place we found to be 34 degrees of latitude.
Toward night we were within three leagues of the low sandy islands
west of Wokokon [just below present Ocracoke Inlet]. But the
weather continued so exceedingly foul, that we could not come to an
anchor near the coast, wherefore we stood off again to sea until
Monday the 9th of August.’

"On Monday the storm ceased, and we had very great likelihood
of fair weather; therefore we stood in again for the shore and came
to an anchor at 11 fathoms in 35 degrees of latitude, within a
mile of the shore, where we went on land on the narrow sandy island
being one of the islands west of Wokokon. 1In this island we took
in some fresh water and caught great store of fish .in the shallow
water. Between the main (as we supposed) and that land it was but
a mile over [wide] and three or four feet deep in most places.

"On the 12th in the morning we departed from there and toward
night we came to an achor at the northeast end of the island of
Croatoan..." (Corbitt 1953:129; Quinn and Quinn 1973:122-123, 171).
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If White's latitudes were running consistently too high, as
appears, he may actually have been offshore a short distance south
of the present Kure Beach when he recorded his vessel at 34°N. on
3 August 1590 (0.S.). The latitude was taken at midday, and near
nightfall White estimated that he was within three league [nine .
miles] of the low sandy islands below Wokokon [the now extinct
inlet just south of the present Ocracoke Inlet]. Considering that
White had only seven or eight hours of daylight for his supposed
passage from 34°N. to Wokokon, the distance would have been too
great for the amount of sailing time. He appears to have made
the same mistake which Fernando made on 16 July 1587, when ‘the
latter mistook what appears to have been one of the islands along
Onslow Bay for the Island of Croatan.

Both Fernando and White apparently misidentified their loca-
tions because the barrier islands from New Topsail Inlet to
Ocracoke Inlet have a remarkable resemblance, all of them being
low stretches of narrow, sandy beach. By nightfall on August 3rd
it is evident that White thought he was somewhere along present-
day Core Banks, but close examination of other details in his
narrative will show that he was wrong.

First of all, if White was actually near 34°N. at midday on
August 3rd, he could most likely have sailed no farther north than
the present Onslow County coastline by nightfall (assuming his
expression toward night refers to an August sunset no later than
8:00 p.m.). The barrier islands began to resemble those White
remembered along today's Core Banks, and he rather naturally thought
he was near Wokokon (or Wocokon) Inlet. Unlike the barrier islands
in Brunswick and New Hanover counties, the barrier islands of Onslow
begin to be separated from the mainland by wider bodies of water,
though not so wide as Bogue, Core and Pamlico sounds. Somewhere
off the Onslow coast, White encountered such foul weather that he
had to move into deeper water so that his wvessel could ride out the
storm at sea.

White says the storm subsided on Monday, August 9th; but
Monday was actually August 10th. Thus it appears that White had
made an error of one day in his reckoning of time (Quinn and Quinn
1973:171). Nevertheless, on that Monday White's vessel put in to
shore again and anchored in what he called 35°N. On this statement,
Quinn and Quinn (Ibid.) comment thus: "35°N. is probably too high.
The description [of the island] would fit the Carolina Outer
Banks either north or south of Cape Lookout at 34°40'N., although
either Core Sound or Bogue Sound is now well over a mile wide."
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White next recorded that his party went ashore on the island,
which was narrow and sandy. He found fresh water on the island
and also caught a large number of fish in the sound waters next
to the island, which waters he found to be only three or four feet
deep. The distance from island to mainland was only a mile, ac-
cording to White. If the latter estimate is correct, White could
not have been more than five miles east of Bogue Inlet nor more
than a mile south of Brown's Inlet, that is, assuming there has
been no drastic movement of the barrier islands of Onslow toward
the mainland since 1590. It will appear from consulting a good
modern map of the North Carolina coast that there are places where
Brown's Island is approximately a mile from the mainland today and
where the western end of Bogue Banks is only a mile from the
Carteret County mainland. Moreover, much of Bear Island is only
slightly over a mile from the Onslow mainland. Therefore, White's
estimate of the distance from the barrier island to the mainland
suggests that he was somewhere between Brown's Inlet and five miles
east of Bogue Inlet. If White's estimates of latitude were running
from 20 to 30 minutes too high, as earlier shown, his recorded 35°N.
latitude would probably have been actually between 34°30'N. and
34°40'N. The former latitude would have been near New River Inlet,
and the latter latitude would have been at Bogue Inlet. The Quinns
(Ibid.) believe White was at 34°40'N., and that line runs straight
through Bogue Inlet.

White appears to have remained on the island from sometime
on Monday (which he called August 9th) until the morning of what
he called August 12th, which may have been Thursday morning, con-
sidering that his calculation of dates was one day off. At any
rate, he left the area on a morning and reached the Cape Hatteras
area near nightfall of the same day. If White began this day's
voyage near sunrise, he should have had 15 to 16 hours of daylight
for sailing. Thus his passage from 34°N. to the island where he
caught the fish was only about half the distance from there to Cape
Hatteras, and his sailing time appears to have been in proper pro-
portion for these two segments: of his voyage. The more one
scrutinizes the record, the more convincing becomes the argument
that White on his unsuccessful search for the "Lost Colony" visited
what later became Onslow County or the southwesternmost tip of
Carteret County.

In the face of the above accounts suggesting that at least
four sixteenth-century explorations got glimpses of Onslow from
the sea and that on some of those voyages landings probably took
Place on the Onslow coast, it seems strange that after 1590 no
specific accounts of exploration in Onslow are known for the next
120 years. It is only reasonable to assume that exploration of the
study area continued through those 120 silent years and increased
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with the approach of the eighteenth century. We know that actual
settlement was preceded by visits of potential settlers and land
speculators, even though that knowledge is inferential. The fact
that the name New River was in common use as a place name as
early as 1716 (see land grant to Richard Sanderson, Onslow County
Grant Book 1:22) suggests general familiarity with the area for
at least a few years prior to 1716.

Nevertheless, the curtain fell across the stage of action
in 1590; and when it was raised again on the scens in Onslow,
settlement was already beginning in the study area. No doubt,
much had occurred along the Onslow coast between 1590 and 1710,
very little of which is likely ever to be known.

C. The Colonial Period: 'Initial Settlement to 1776
1. Settlement

Conflicting accounts of the earliest Eurcopean settle-
ment of Onslow County exist in the few published works which
touch upon the subject of Onslow history. The currently accepted
version of beginning settlement is set forth in the county history
by the late Joseph Parsons Brown (1960:3). Brown wrote that "the
first white men to make their home in what is now Onslow County
‘were William Brown, Henry Warren, and Thomas Worsley, who in 1706
came here and settled cn New River." These three initial settlers
of New River were supposed to have taken up land on Town Creek
and Duck Creek, where their homesites would have been inside the
present study area. Concrete historical markers now purportedly
identify the spot and declare it so.

Brown (Ibid.) further declares that the first three
settlers were Englishmen, who were not joined by another settler
until 1713, when a Frenchman named John Nasaugue "paddled his lone
canoe several miles on up the stream [New River] to a point beyond
where Jacksonville now is. His new home was located on the North
West Branch of New River." The account is interesting, and the
picture of the "lone canoe" pioneering up the wild and unexplored
New River is certainly imaginative. But for the student of history,
the unfortunate thing is that not a word of Brown's account of the
initial settlement of New River is true.

Yet the fault is not mainly Brown's. In his quest for
historical information, Brown was innocently and unsuspectingly
misled by the official records of Onslow County, as shall be later
shown. The research for this present project confirmed the princi-
pal investigator's leong suspicions that something was wrong with
the published account of Onslow settlement.
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Several considerations had cast doubt on the reliability
of the claimed 1706 settlement. Briefly discussed, the grounds of
suspicion are given below.

First of all, the land grants issued to William Brown,
Henry Warren, and Thomas Worsley (Onslow County Grant Book 1:1-2)
unanimously called for land located on "0Old Town Creek." To the
uninformed eye looking at a modern map of Onslow, the land on 0ld
Town Creek presents no problem because the map will show a Town
Creek flowing into the west side of New River approximately midway
between Stone's Bay and the mouth of Southwest Creek. It is
rather from a research familiarity with the Onslow records that a
suspicion about 0Old Town Creek arises. The creek now known as Town
Creek was first known as Mittam's [or Mittum's] Creek, and it is
never referred to as Town Creek until sometime after the town of
Johnston was located there pursuant to an act of Assembly in 1741.
Even as late as 1761 Onslow's present Town Creek was still being
called Mittum's Creek. Richard Ward on 3 November 1761 sold to
Richard Thompson 40 acres "on a branch at Edward Simpson's corner to
the Johnston Road and along the town line to Mittum's Creek"
(Gwynn 1961:125. See also p. 126 for another deed).

For the 1706 land grants to use the name 0ld Town Creek
50 years before the name begins to appear in the Onslow deed
records is an instance of either sheer clairvoyance or certain
error. The facts clearly suggest that Mittam's Creek took the name
Town Creek only after the town of Johnston (1741-1752) was blown
away by the hurricane of September, 1752 (see Appendix A). Even
the point now known as Town Point was first known as Mittam's Point
(Clark 1895-1907:XXIII, 170-171) and still went by that name at
the time Johnston was incorporated. Needless to say, land grants
are not supposed to make anachronistic references to place names
that are yet future in origin.

A second ground of suspicion was the fact that later
deeds in their chains of title contain no references to land in the
area as having been formerly owned by either Brown, Warren, or
Worsley. Early tracts of land often provided established lines or
"corners" that could be used as references in describing the loca-
tions of later grants of adjoining land. No subsequent grant or
deed refers to the lines of any land supposed to have been held by
the 1706 grantees. Even if Brown, Warren, and Worsley had once
owned the land but had let it lapse through failure to pay the
annual quit rents, the owner to whom the land was subsequently re-
patented should have had a grant with some mention that his tract
of land was formerly surveyed for one of those three men. Such a
statement does not occur in the Onslow records. Thus, in two ways,
serious doubt surrounded the claim that Brown, Warren, and Worsley
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were the first European settlers in Onslow County and the study
area.

Because the foregoing issue presented a serious problem,
considerable research attention was given the matter. In the course
of the detailed research, new problems and eventually some answers
emerged. One of the new problems was found in William Brown's
land grant, where it was stated that one of the lines of his
patent extended "to a point of the old field" (Onslow County
Grant Book 1:2), indicating that someone had been there earlier
than Brown and had cleared a field. Warren's land grant joined -
Capt. Brown's line and a savannah beside the creek at the forks
of 01d Town Creek (Ibid.). The natural description of Warren's -
tract does not match the situation in Onslow. -

At this point in the research, the first clue was found.
Hathaway's North Carolina Historical and Genealogical Register
(1900:3, 8) contains abstracts of the same land grant records for
Brown, Warren, and Worsley and identifies them as coming from early
grants for land in Shaftesbury Precinct, Chowan Precinct, and
Chowan County, all three names being different designations for
the same area (Ibid.:3). Shaftesbury Precinct was formed as early
as 1668 as a division of Albemarle County, and about 1681 its name
was changed to Chowan Precinct (Powell 1968:447). 1In the light of
the latter information, such names as "Old Town Creek" and "the
old field" become more reasonable in a 1706 land grant.

Furthermore, a search of early North Carolina wills shows
that Brown, Warren, and Worsley died far from Onslow County. Henry
Warren was living on Matchepungo Creek, Bath County, on 15 February
1716, 0l1d Style (1717, New Style) when his will was made; it was
probated on 2 April 1717 (Grimes 1910:393). William Brown, identi-
fying himself as a resident of Chowan County, made his will on 15
December 1718; it was probated on 21 July 1719 (Ibid.:52). Thomas
Worsley's will was made on 18 January 1737, 0l1d Style (1738, New
Style) and probated in March, 1738 (N.S.). He indicated residence
in Bath County, and his witnesses and executors are not from Onslow
(Ibid.:424).

But how does one explain the misuse of a land grant in
Chowan County to support a claim that it was for land in Onslow
County? And how does one account for the inclusion of those 1706
land grants among the official records of Onslow County? Gradually,
the answers to those questions were found, too. It is quite evident
that Brown (1960:3) had no idea that the 1706 land grants were for
tracts in Chowan County. He found them recorded in the first book
of Onslow land grants, and the only logical assumption was that the
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land granted was in Onslow. Superficially, the place names ap-
peared to be valid Onslow place names. In short, the late county
historian was quite innocently misled by errors in the county
records themselves.

But how did those errors get into the county records?
The answer has to be pieced together from several sources. In
1752 a hurricane completely destroyed the county seat town of
Johnston and most, if not all, of the county land records
(Pennsylvania Gazette, 2 November 1752; Martin 1829:II, 61). In
an effort to replace Onslow's lost records, the Colonial Assembly
passed an act in 1753 directing the people of Onslow to present
their legal documents to the court to be rerecorded. A period of
two years was allowed in which the lost records were to be sup-
plied by recopying the old deeds and grants held by the landowners
(Clark 1895-1907:XXIII, 387-388). Apparently, many of the land-
owners either had lost their originals or were negligent in
complying with the legislation, and as late as the beginning of
the 1900's great gaps still existed in the records--particularly
the grant records. Therefore, once again in an effort to supply
the lost records, the General Assembly in 1907 authorized the
Onslow County Register of Deeds to copy the pertinent land grant
records in the Office of the Secretary of State (Gwynn 1961:765).

John B. Petteway was the Onslow Register of Deeds in
1907, and it fell his duty to go to Raleigh to copy all the
missing Onslow County land grants he could find. On 9 July 1908
Petteway completed his task of copying the land grants and certi-
fied their accuracy (Ibid.). But if Petteway was not sure whether
a particular grant was for land in Onslow County, he apparently
relied on recognizable place names to determine whether to copy
the record. With respect to .the 1706 land grants, as well as others
copied in error, Petteway recognized the name of Town Creek, Duck
Creek, and even mistook the name North West River as a variation
of the North West Branch of New River. It apparently did not
occur to Petteway that there may have been many other counties
that had place names like those:in Onslow. Hence, the erroneous
land grants entered the official records of Onslow.

The problem with duplicated place names is evident in
Powell's North Carolina Gazetteer (1968). Powell (Ibid:496-497)
lists 10 North Carolina counties with creeks named Town Creek,
and that number does not include some of the early ones for whom
the name Town Creek has passed out of use. Likewise, eight
counties in North Carolina have streams still called Duck Creek
(Ibid. :150).
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Brown (1960:3) had also identified the fourth Onslow
settler as John Nasaugue [Nasague] on the North West Branch of
New River, but Nasague's grant was for land "in the fork of the
Northwest River" (Onslow County Grant Book 1l:1) and was issued in
1712 instead of 1713, as Brown indicated. Powell (1968:358) de-
fines the Northwest River as rising in Norfolk County, Virginia,
and flowing southeast into Currituck County, North Carolina, where
it empties into Tull Bay and North Landing River. Prior to the
digging of the Dismal Swamp Canal, Northwest River flowed from
Lake Drummond, Virginia, to Currituck Sound, North Carolina. It
appears on the Ogilby map of 1671. Thus the first four settlers
whom Brown places on New River apparently never saw any part of
Onslow County, and the whole question of initial settlement has to
be reinvestigated.

A reassessment of Brown's history and a fresh study of
the Onslow records lead to the conclusion that the real settlement
of the study area did not begin until the second decade of the
eighteenth century--probably about 1713. The next problem in the
early land grant records for Onslow is to sort out actual settlers
from the non-resident land speculators.

So far as the present research has revealed, the earliest
grants for land in the study area date from the year 1713, though
additional research may be expected to push that date back by two
or three years. At least when one throws out the land grants er-
roneously included in Onslow County Grant Book 1, the earliest
valid land grant for New River recorded therein bears the date
1716. The problem with basing one's knowledge of beginning
settlement in the study area on the Onslow records is twofold:

(1) the Onslow land grant records have already been shown to be
incomplete and inaccurate, and (2) the earliest grants for land
in what is now Onslow County should have been issued while the
study area was a part of Craven, Carteret, or New Hanover pre-
cincts. Unfortunately, the contract under which the present
research was performed did not budget for sufficient time to
permit the painstakinj research required to examine adequately

the grant records of the three abovementioned precincts (now counties)

or those of the Land Grant Office in Raleigh. At best, therefore,
the record of beginning settlement in Onslow is still fragmentary.

Nevertheless, settlement data permit some observations to
be made about patterns of immigration and settlement. Appendices B
and C will show that initial settlement was not by any sizeable in-
flux directly from Europe, but the initial population of Onslow
primarily came indirectly from Europe by way of other American
settlements. In descending order, the sources of early Onslow

settlers appear to have been (1) the northeastern counties of North
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Carolina, (2) the adjoining counties of North Carolina (remember-
ing that during Colonial times Craven and New Hanover, as well as
Carteret, were adjoining counties), (3) Maryland and Virginia, and
(4) the New England colonies, especially Massachusetts.

With respect to settlement patterns, Onslow County
settlers followed the classic pattern outlined by Meyer (1957:97-
100) in his The Highland Scots of North Carolina. Meyer shows
that initial settlement of the upper Cape Fear followed the major
streams (i.e., the river and its principal tributaries). In Onslow,
due to physical differences in the geography, the classical settle-
ment pattern was modified to include the sounds. Thus, the first
land grants in Onslow tended to be issued for land on the sounds,
the banks of the rivers, and the major creeks. Since the waterways
were the county's first highways, they were the routes by which new
tracts of desirable land were located and eventually seated. Not
until after a reasonably adequate system of dirt roads had been laid
out did the settlement pattern begin to include dispersal of population
along the major roads of the county. Even then, the roads drew more
settlers when they were close to good waterways or navigable streams.

The following discussion of early settlers of the study
area will support the settlement pattern described above. Actual
settlement of the Onslow area was a part of the gradual spread from
northeastern North Carolina southward. It is generally held that
by 1711 a few settlers had pushed as far southward as White Oak
River, and by 1713 the tide of new settlers had reached New River
(Saunders 1886-1890:I, xi; Connor 1919:134).

Among the first actual settlers of the study area were
three brothers from Massachusetts--Phillip, Ebenezar, and Hope
Dexter. On 20 January 1713, 0ld Style (1714, New Style), Phillip
Dexter was granted 640 acres on the west side of the mouth of Bear
Creek. When Phillip sold 350 acres of his 640-acre tract to Richard
Ward in 1752, Phillip mentioned that it was the part where his bro-
ther, Ebenezar Dexter, had lived (Gwynn 1961:64). The part sold to
Ward joined a field where Phillip was raising a crop of corn in 1752
(Ibid.). By 1755 it appears that Phillip Dexter was dead, and his
land had been inherited by Jabez Dexter back in Rochester, Massachu-
setts, who that year sold Richard Ward the remaining 290 acres out
of the 640-acre tract on Bear Creek, plus 750 acres which appear to
have been what is now known as Brown's Island (Ibid.:80). The 750
atres between Bear Inlet and Brown's Inlet had been granted to
Christopher Gale, Chief Justice of North Carolina, on 20 January
1713, 0Ol1ld Style (1714, New Style). Sometime thereafter Gale had
evidently sold it to Phillip Dexter (Onslow County Grant Book 1:25).
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The other brother, Hope Dexter, had settlad on Mittum's
[or Mittam's] Creek, New River, and it was on his land that the
town of Johnston was later established. The 640 acres on Mittum's
Creek had been granted to Hope Dexter on 1 May 1726, and in 1746
Hope willed half of it (320 acres) to his brother, Phillip. In
1761, Jabez Dexter, having inherited the 320 acres from Phillip,
sold the tract to the same Richard Ward (Gwynn 1961:125) who had
bought the Dexter land on Bear Creek and Brown's Island.

But not all the early landowners actually settled on
their land. Between 1713 and 1730 at least half of the land grants
in the study area were issued to non-residents who apparently bought
the land for speculation. These land speculators usually bought up
some of the most desirable tracts of land in the hope of making a
quick profit when the influx of actual settlers got under way.

Still others patented land which they soon relinquished rather than
keep the annual quit rents paid to the Lords Proprietors, and some

went to the trouble to have tracts of land surveyed but never paid

the purchase money.

Brown's Inlet, Brown's Swamp or Creek, Brown's Sound, and
Brown's Island appear to have taken their names from a man who very
early patented a tract of land in the vicinity but prokably never
lived there. In 1756 Edward Ward, Jr., and Margaret Ward sold 200
acres near Brown's Inlet to Seth Ward. In their deed, the Wards
explained that the 200-acre tract was part of a larger tract taken
up by Thomas Brown, Sr., who let his patent lapse. After Brown lost
the land, so the deed states, it was regrapted to John Giddens on 22
January 1714, 0ld sStyle (1715, New Style). Though the date of
Brown's grant is not given, it evidently was 1714 or earlier (Ibid.:92).
The indication is that the Wards were the first resident owners of
the land in question. :

1A later deed from Meltiah [Malatiah] Strange to David Ward declares
this 200-acre tract to have been part of 640 acres granted to

Thomas Brown and afterwards taken up by John Giddins on 22 February
1713/14 (Gwynn 1961:296). The records provide no explanation for the
discrepancy in dates.

2'I‘homas Brown clearly did not live on this tract, and there is no
residency proof for John Giddens. The third owner, Richard William
Sylvester, identified himself as a resident of Hyde Precinct when
he sold the 640 acres to Edward Ward on 25 December 1733 (Onslow
County Court Minutes for the January term of court, 1733, 0ld Style;
1734, New Style).
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There were also two grants for 290 acres and 510 acres
issued to Farnifield [Furnifold] Green, Sr., on 11 November 1713
(Onslow County Grant Book 1:23), and the 290-acre grant as it
appears in the Onslow records describes the land as being "on the
north side of New River at the mouth of a little creek on the west
side of Cockawinck Creek." At last, the Onslow records appear to
have revealed someone at least owning two tracts of land on New
River as early as 1713, but once again the deplorable state of the
Onslow grant records requires caution. ;

Farnifold Green, Sr., however, is known to have moved
from Virginia to North Carolina in 1697. About 1706 or 1707 he
obtained 1,700 acres on the north side of Neuse River, and he was
killed on his own plantation there by the Indians in 1714 (Moore
1960:95). It is interesting to note that Green's tract of 290
acres was on the north side of Neuse River (Ibid.:13, 95) and
that on 7 January 1706, 0Old Style (1707, New Style), he had sold
part of his land there to one Christopher Dawson. In his deed to
Dawson, Green described the land as bounded by the Neuse River
and Cuccowink Creek (Ibid.:29). 1In the light of the foregoing,
considering the similarity of the names Cockawinck Creek and
Cuccowink Creek, it can only be concluded that Green's 290-acre
grant is another instance of error in the Onslow grant records.
The official who recorded the grant simply misread Neuse River for
New River. Indeed, the name Neuse was sometimes spelled News in
the very early records.

Green's other grant for 510 acres at first appears to
be a valid grant for land on the north side of New River. It is
further described as being "a little below a small creek called
Duck Creek in Green's Bay." On closer examination, however, it will
be seen that Duck Creek in Onslow County is not on the north side of
New River and does not flow into any embayment. On the other hand,
there are Craven County deeds which refer to a Duck Creek on the
north side of Neuse River (Ibid.:11). Once again the Onslow grant
records are in error. '

Because of the demonstrated errors in the records, the
earliest land grant in the Onslow grant books which was for land
actually on New River is a grant issued to Richard Sanderson on
1 September 1716. Sanderson, however, was merely a land speculator
who lived in Perquimans County, North Carolina (Grimes 1910:326-327)
and died there in 1733. Nevertheless, Sanderson's grant reveals
some interesting information. His 490 acres on the west side of
New River joined onto a tract that had previously been granted to
Captain [William] Stone, near the mouth of Stone's Creek (Onslow
County Grant Book 1:22). :
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While Sanderson's grant does not tell when Capt. Stone
obtained his adjoining grant, other records disclose that Capt.
Stone's grant had been issued for 770 acres cn the mouth of
Stone's Creek and that his grant lapsed because he failed to pay
the purchase money. Thereafter, the same 770-acre tract was
granted to John Lovick on 18 October 1722 (Onslow County Grant
Book 1:18) who on 27 March 1723 sold it to Governor William Reed
without ever having lived on it (Carteret County Deed Book
ABCE&F:23) .

On 1 May 17173 John Kent received a grant for 240 acres
on the west side of New River apparently along the upper shore of
Stone's Bay (Onslow County Grant Book 1:22). It is not known
whether Kent ever resided on his New River tract, but at some
point in time Charles Harrison obtained Kent's land and resold
it on 3 October 1732 (Onslow County Court Minutes for the Octo-
ber term of court, 1732).

Another early non-resident landowner in the Stone's Bay
area was Daniel Richardson, who on 11 November 1719 reassigned
his 530 acres to then Colonel William Reed, who served as governor
of the colony from 1722 to 1724 (Crabtree 1974:29-30). Neither man
ever lived on the tract of land, and in 1760 Governor Reed's heir
sold the 530 acres to Lemuel Hatch (Gwynn 1961:118).

on 19 November 1723 Charlesworth Glover received two
grants for land on the east side of New River, one grant for 160
acres and one for 150 acres (Onslow County Grant Book 1:17). On 21
January 1746, 0ld Style (1747, New Style), the two above tracts were
sold to Thomas Smith, and the deed identified Glover as being of
South Carolina (Gwynn 1961:42). Evidently, Glover also was a non-
resident landowner.

On 2 August 1726 a tract of 60 acres on the east side of
the mouth of New River was granted to William Lewis, Jr. (Onslow
County Grant Book 1:13). Whether or not Lewis ever resided on the
property, one important fact emerges from his grant's description:
Lewis's land joined onto an old field next to an unnamed bay, and it
appears someone had been living nearby prior to the issuance of
Lewis's grant.

3 3 ; ;
The date is also given as 5 May 1717 in the Onslow County Court
Minutes for the October term of court, 1732.
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On 16 December 1726 Charles Harrison received a grant
for 100 acres on the west side of the mouth of New River which
had earlier been granted to Capt. William Stone "and by him
elapsed" (Onslow County Grant Book 1:15). Eight days after
Harrison's grant was issued, one was issued to Sir Richard
Everard, governor of the colony from 1725 to 1731 (Crabtree 1974:
32-33). Everard's grant was for 420 acres on New River between
King Creek (the original name for French's Creek) and Duck Creek,
and the record states that the land had earlier been granted to
Maurice Walker, who lost it for failure to pay the purchase money
(Onslow County Grant Book 1:16-17). Everard died in England in
1733, having never lived on New River (Crabtree 1974:33). -

Despite the fact that most of the land grants on New
River before 1730 appear to have been made to nonresidents, there
were certainly settlers moving into the area before that date.
Most of the grants for that period are probably recorded, as pre-
viously indicated, in the counties of Craven, Carteret, and New
Hanover. It is also likely that some of the nonresident grantees
had rented or leased their land out to poor farmers whose names
do not appear in the Onslow records until years later when they
were able to buy their own land.

Sometime about 1729, while New River was in New Hanover
Precinct, a tract of 420 acres was granted to Mary Lillington, who
may have been a daughter of John Lillington (Grimes 1910:216). Her
grant was for land near the mouth of New River between Howard's
Bay and Holston's Creek and is marked "M. Lillington" on Edward
Moseley's 1733 map of North Carolina (see Figure 4). Most sig-
nificantly, Mary Lillington's, K grant shows that she had two
neighbors, Andrew Clark and Stephen Howard (dnslow County Grant
Book 1:15). Thus, from some of the pre-1730 land grants, clues
emerge to suggest that settlers had begun to move into the New
River area. B

A court of admiralty held at Edenton on 30 July 1729
heard a case in behalf of William Cook, master and owner of the
shallop William, against John Phelps, pilot. In the evidence,
Cook swore that on or about 24 May 1729 he had agreed with Phelps
to pilot the shallop William from Topsail Inlet [now Beaufort
Inlet] to New River for four pounds and 10 shillings. The condi-
tion was that the money was to be returned if the vessel "should
miscarry...or do otherwise than well." After the shallop wrecked
about a mile west of Bogue Inlet, Cook demanded his money back
and Phelps refused to refund it. The court decreed in favor of
Cook (Colonial Court Records, 1697-1738, North Carolina Court of
Vice Admiralty Papers, North Carolina Division of Archives and
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and History). The importance of the 1729 admiralty case is that
it indicates settlers were then on New River and were already
engaging in some kind of trade.

Scattered sources help to piece together a fragmentary
picture of beginning settlement on New River. Though just out-
side the present study area boundary, one of the earliest settlers
on New River for whom there is good documentation was Edmund Ennett.
Apparently during the Tuscarora War, Ennett had lived on Brice's
Creek, where he was a neighbor of William Brice of Craven County
and had fought in that war (The Quarterly Review of the Eastexn
North Carolina Genealogical Society 1(1):12; Craven County Court
Minutes for the January term of court, 1715, 0ld Style). However,
it appears that by 1723 Ennett may have moved to New River. 1In
1723 New River was in Carteret Precinét, where Ennett was listed
as a juryman (Clark 1895-1907:XXV, 190) and a freeholder (Hawks
1859:1II, 67). 1In 1726 Edmund Ennett was appointed by the Carteret
court as overseer of the road from New River toward the Neuse
until the road intersected with the crosspath leading to the White
Oak River (Carteret County Court Minutes for the March term of
court, 1725, 0l1ld Style; 1726, New Style). In 1728 Ennett was
licensed by the Carteret court to operate a ferry over New River
(Carteret County Court Minutes for the June term of court, 1728).

Ennett's ferry land appears to have been just south of
the mouth of Kisable Creek, now known as Everett's Creek. Ennett
died in 1735 and his land on Kisable Creek fell to his son John
(Grimes 1910:113). The significance of Kisable Creek (Gwynn 1961:
349, 390, 422) is that its name appears to be derived from Michael
Kisable's ownership of land lying on that creek. Kisable, whose
name occurs under several variant spellings, appears in the Craven
County records during the years 1714 to 1719 (Holloman 1975:52-59)
and died in Craven County in 1728 (Grimes 1910:204). Ennett ap-
parently bought the tract of land from Kisable before moving from
Brice's Creek to New River. Though the present research has not
located a grant to Kisable for land on New River, circumstantial
evidence points to his being one of the early nonresident owners
of land there. Ennett was certainly one of the early New River
residents and began the ferry which soon took the name "the Lower
Ferry over New River" and later was called Snead's Ferry. The
eastern terminus of Ennett's ferry was located inside the present
study area.

By the year 1730 the records begin to reflect an increase
in the number of land grants in the study area. On 30 July 1730
Elizabeth Raymond received a land grant for 500 acres on New River
(Onslow County Grant Book 1:13), and on 31 July 1730 Richard
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Williamson was granted 420 acres being the island betwveen Brown's
Inlet and the now extinct Little Inlet (Gwynn 1961:823, cf. Ibid.:
49). John Starkey also received a grant on 31 July 1730 for 640
acres between Gillett's Creek and Freeman's Creek, and Starkey's
grant reveals that John Gillett was then in possession of the
Haulover land on the opposite side of Gillett's Creek (Carteret
County Deed Book D:53).

Sometime about 1731 or earlier John Williams had acquired
land on the lower New River, for on 11 November 1731 he sold a
plantation of 400 acres called the Ferry Point to Christian.Heidel-
berg, where the latter was residing at the time of purchase (Onslow
County Court Minutes for the April term of court, 1732). Figure 4
shows Heidelberg's Ferry located on this 400-acre plantation in
1733, and there is the implication that Heidelberg had been operat-
ing the ferry there when he bought the land in 1731, hence the name
Ferry Point Plantation in the original deed. The ferry is also
indicated on Wimble's 1738 map (see Figure 5), but by that date
Heidelberg appears to have been living on his plantation on Stone's
Bay and Rhodes's Mill Creek (Gwynn 1961:14). :

In a deed dated 9 March 1731, 0ld Style (1732, New Style),
Henry Rhodes and wife Mary identified themselves as residents of
"Onsloe Precinct" although the Onslow records contain no grants or
deeds in Rhodes's name prior to that date (Bell 1977:148). Gold-
smith Whitehurst was appointed an overseer of the road on the east
side of New River in 1733 (Onslow County Court Minutes for the
January term of court, 1732, 0Old Style; 1733, New Style). The
will of John Sanders, probated 3 April 1733, shows he was a resi-
dent of the study area. His witnesses were Job Brooks, Stephen
Howard, and James Foyle, who also were New River residents (Grimes
1910:325). The record of stock marks (Onslow County Miscellaneous
Records, CR 072.928.1, North Carolina Division of Archives and
History) reveals that John and Richard Wallace had livestock in
Onslog Precinct and that they recorded their stock marks on 5 April
L i The foregoing references show that people were settling on

5Between 1733 and 1750 over 85 people not previously mentioned in
the text received grants for land on New River. Unlike the
earlier recipients of land grants (1716 to 1733), the vast majority
of the later group consisted of actual residents. In addition,
over half of the New River land grants between 1733 and 1750 were
for land within the study area (Saunders 1886-1890:IV, 598; Brown
1960:379-381; Gwynn 1961:765-824, 837-845). 1In addition to the
families represented by the land grants, the Onslow County Record
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New River even before acquiring land there and tend to corroborate
the statement by Lefler and Newsome (1963:72) that by 1733 there
were "some 100 families thriving on New River."

Conner (1919:144) adds that by 1734 the Colonial Assembly
was aware that New Hanover Precinct had "become very populous" and
that the New River settlements justified the creation of the
separate precinct of Onslow. On 23 April 1734 in a letter to
the Bishop of London, John LaPierre identified Governor George
Burrington and John Williams as "the chief encouragers" of setting
up a parish in "a new colony called New River." LaPierre noted
that the approximately 100 families were all poor but desirous of
having a church established (Saunders 1886-1890:1II, 624).

In summary, it appears that the primary settlement of
New River can be traced to the planting of a colony composed
mostly of acquaintances and former neighbors who moved from Bertie
County, North Carolina, to Onslow about 1730-1731. They were
probably induced to relocdte by the encouragement of Governor
Burrington and Captain Williams. Burrington, who was swift to act
upon a petition to create Onslow Precinct, may even have given some
promise to set up a new precinct for the New River settlement;
and John Williams, a former Bertie County resident, early became a
large landowner on New River. The colony that Burrington and
Williams transplanted became the nucleus to which later immigrants
were added and from which the county of Onslow evolved.

By 1744 Governor Gabriel Johnston reported that the area
in which Onslow County was located had been settled by a "sober
and industrious set of people" (Bellamy 1977:340). In 1747 the
number of tithables in the county was reported to be 502 (Onslow
County Court Minutes for the January term of court, 1746, 0ld Style;

of Stock Marks, 1732-1740 (Onslow County Miscellaneous Records,

CR 072.928.1, North Carolina Division of Archives and History),
gives the names of a number of other families living in the study
area before 1750 but whose names do not appear in the land records.
Many of the above families may have been included in the better
than 100 families reported as living on New River in 1733.
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1747, New Style). By the combined means of natural increase and
continued immigrgtion, the 1733 population of Onslow had at least
doubled by 1747.

2. Formation of the County

When Bath County was formed in 1696 from the territory
south of Albemarle Sound, it included the area known today as
Onslow County. Several subdivisions of counties would be required,
however, before the county of Onslow would be created. On 3 Decem-
ber 1705 Archdale Precinct of Bath County was formed and then
contained the area which later became Onslow (Powell 1968:26).

In 1712 the name of Archdale was changed to Craven Precinct, and
in 1722 Carteret Precinct was formed from Craven (Ibid.:90; Corbitt
1950:57).

In 1722 all of present-day Onslow was in Carteret Precinct,
which at that time extended southward from Core Sound to include
all settlements between there and the South Carolina line (Saunders
1886-1890:1I, 459). 1In 1729 New Hanover Precinct was formed out
of part of Carteret and Craven precincts and included all of south-
eastern North Carolina from the South Carolina line as far north
as "The Haulover and Little Inlet" (Lee 1971:7).

Little Inlet, which has been extinct since the late
nineteenth century, was at the time of Onslow's formation located
about half way between New River Inlet and Brown's Inlet in the
vicinity of Gillett's Creek (Lee 1980:31). The Haulover was
located in the same area (Carteret County Deed Book D:53; Onslow
County Deed Book A:79-81; B:518-519; Gwynn 1961:39, 116, 129, 165,
261, 272, 279, 307, 444, 445, 448, 514, 522, 592, 754, 1328), despite
the fact that Lee (1980:31) professes not to know where the
Haulover was located.

o

In 1733 the New River colony had been estimated as having more
than 100 families. A slightly smaller number seems to be a
fairly accurate estimate for the settlers on the White Oak River,
the area between Queens Creek and Bear Creek, and the Stump Sound
area. If the total number of families for the whole county in
1733 was almost 200, the number of tithables should have been a
little more than that. It is not unrealistic to expect the
population to have doubled in the next 14 years (1733 to 1747).
For other population statistics, see Appendix D.
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Hobbs (1958:151-152) describes the origin of "Haulover"
as a place name thus: “In certain areas along the coast where
the bays and sounds were separated by narrow strips of land, the
freight, passengers, and sometimes small ships were 'hauled over'
the barriers. The word 'haulover' is still used today in areas
where small strips of land separated the water route." Dunbar
(1958:155) adds this observation: "Although it locally refers
to a particular place, it [Haulover] is actually a generic term
meaning a portage or place over which small boats have to be
hauled or carried, a narrow isthmus. The name is used on the
[Outer] Banks especially for sites of former inlets...."

The Onslow deeds appear to associate the name Haulover
with at least three geographical features: (1) The barrier
island at its narrowest point. opposite the mouth of Gillett's
Creek seems sometimes indicated as "the Haulover," (2) the shallow
waters between Sallier's Bay and Gillett's Creek is orten called
"Haulover Sound," and (3) the mainland between Sallier's Bay and
Gillett's Creek is often referred to as "the Haulover land."
Since Little Inlet at the time of New Hanover's formation connected
Haulover Sound with the Atlantic Ocean, it is probable that the
act creating New Hanover Precinct intended the northern boundary to
be Little Inlet and Haulover Sound (Clark 1895-1907:XXIII, 119).
All the present Onslow land above Little Inlet and Haulover Sound
remained in Carteret Precinct until Onslow was formed. Thus when
Corbitt (1950:164) states that Onslow was formed from New Hanover,
he is only partly correct, for Onslow was taken partly out of New
Hanover and partly out of Carteret (Saunders 1886-1890:III, 256,
641).

The move to create Onslow Precinct7 apparently began
soon after "the New River Colony" was planted. George Burrington,
who was governor under the Lords Proprietors in 1724-1725 and
royal governor in 1731-1734 (Crabtree 1974:31-32), was evidently
referring to his second appointment as governor when he wrote
that sometime after he came into North Carolina “"the people in-
habiting on White Oak River and Onslow [New] River and parts
adjacent" petitioned him and the Council "praying that they might
be erected into and made a new precinct. The reasons the peti-
tioners set forth," wrote Burrington, "appeared so fair and just
that what they desired was granted, viz., they were made a new
precinct by the name of Onslow, which precinct contains a square

7
Onslow County was named for Sir Arthur Onslow, Speaker of the
British House of Commons (Brown 1960:11-13).
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of about 50 miles and will soon be (in all likelihood) one of
the most considerable in this province" (Saunders 1886-1890:
III, 442).

Acting promptly upon the petition, Governor Burrington
on 23 November 1731 created Onslow Precinct by executive order
issued as follows:

Upon petition of the inhabitants of White Oak,
New River, and Topsail along the sea shore
praying to have a new precinct erected from New
Topsail to Bartram's Point on the east side of
wWhite Oak River and this Board thereon taking
into consideration the great hardship and ex-
penses the inhabitants within the limits above
mentioned are at in going to Carteret Precinct
Court, His Excellency by and with the advice

and consent of His Majesty's Council doth make
the following bounds into a precinct, viz.,
Beginning at Bogue Inlet from Bartram's Point

on Bogue Sound including or taking in two miles
on the North East side of White Oak River for

the East and North East bounds and from New
Topsail Inlet including all the lands on the
creeks and branches that run into New River to be
the South and West bounds of the said precinct is
hereby called and distinguished by the name of
Onslow Precinct and that a commission [of the
peace] issue for the same with such privileges as
other precincts have or enjoy. And it is further
ordered that the said precinct shall be and con-
tinue according to the above bounds until there
shall be a further division of other precincts and
counties (Ibid.:III, 256-257).

The foregoing order of the governor and Council erected
and named the county [or precinct], established its bounds, em-
powered the county to begin administration of justice and local
government, and concluded with a commission to 13 men who were to
serve as the first justices of the peace for the new precinct.
The commission of the peace was directed (as transcribed in the
published volumes of Colonial records) to James Tunis, Edward

(Marshburn, Joseph Mumford, James Murry [Murray], James Taylor,

Lazarus Thomas, Thomas Johnston, Capt. Francis Brice, Christopher
Dudley, Nicholas Hunter, Abraham Mitchell, Richard Nickson [Nixon],
and John Frederick (Ibid.).
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The name of James Tunis has long defied identification.
Research has shown that there was no such person as James Tunis.
The name owes its origin to an error in transcription. The name
is really that of James Innis [Innes], a prominent citizen of the
Cape Fear area who never served as a justice of Onslow Precinct
because he lived outside the bounds of the precinct (McEachern
and Williams 1974:127, Lennon and Kellam 1973:31n). His name
was dropped when the next commission of the peace was issued for
Onslow on 23 March 1734, 0ld Style (1735, New Style) (Saunders
1886-1890:1V, 46). Of the remaining 12 justices named in the
original commission, Marshburn and Murray were prominent residents
of the area between Stone's Bay and Southwest Creek in the present
study area.

Before the reorganization of state government took
effect in 1868, the county justices of the peace constituted the
highest local authority in the county. Collectively, the justices
administered the business of the county, naming most other county
officials, levying taxes, holding elections, conducting the in-
ferior courts of justice, setting the rates for ordinaries and
ferries, and licensing or permitting taverns, ordinaries, ferries,
and mills. The first book of Onslow court minutes shows that
almost immediately after their appointment the first Onslow jus-
tices began to function as the administrative head of the precinct,
fulfilling the above roles, probating wills and deeds, contracting
for construction of a courthouse, requiring security bonds, im-
posing fines, hearing petitions, appointing overseers of the roads,
reviewing guardianship and estate records, approving apprenticeships,
and handling all the usual business of the precinct. It has been
noted that "while the precinct was nominally a division of a
county [before 1739], it was in effect the more active unit of
government and the forerunner of the modern county. 1In 1739...
the 14 precincts then existing [in North Carolina] were styled
‘counties,' for that is what they had really been all the while,
and the larger divisions were abolished" (Wager 1928:4).

The first book of Onslow court minutes begins with the
January term of court for 1731 (0ld Style) or 1732 (New Style).
Thus within approximately six weeks after Governor Burrington's
order had created the precinct of Onslow, its justices were hold-
ing court and had begun local government administration on the
pPrecinct level. Prior to the meeting of the Assembly at Edenton
on 3 July 1733, Onslow had elected its representatives to the
Assembly; but at this point the new precinct ran into trouble.
The Colonial Assembly deferred to allow Onslow's representatives
to be seated in the Assembly until legal questions could be
settled regarding the status of the new precinct. A special com-
mittee headed by Captain William Downing gave its opinion on
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7 July 1733 that the representatives from Onslow should not be
allowed their seat in the Assembly, and thus Onslow was denied
representation (Brown 1960:6).

The report of the special committee contended that the
power to create new precincts was not the prerogative of the
governor and the Council but was the right of the Assembly (or
Lower House) since the Constitution of 1698 had specified that
the number of representatives could be increased only if the House

of Commons [Assembly] so desired (Ibid.). Claiming a technical
violation of the constitution, the Assembly therefore accepted the
report of the special committee and refused the representatives :
from Onslow a seat because the precinct had been created without
the Assembly's consent (Saunders 1886-1890:III, 562). Two members
of the Council, Nathaniel Rice and John Baptista Ashe, also ob-
jected to the creation of the new precinct on the grounds that
there were so few freeholders [i.e., property owners as opposed

to mere tenants] in Onslow Precinct and that the few freeholders
had been chiefly taken from Carteret Precinct (Ibid.:III, 450),
which itself had only a few freeholders before the creation of
Onslow Precinct further reduced that number.

Nevertheless, the residents of the Onslow area continued
to seek proper legal status for their precinct. On 21 January
1734, 014 Style (1735, New.Style), Maurice Moore made a motion
that a bill be prepared and presented to the Assembly to confirm
the precinct of Onslow (Ibid.:IV, 121). The bill confirming the
precincts of Onslow and Bladen received final passage on 19 Feb-
ruary 1734, 014 Style (2 March 1735, New Style) and was ordered
to be engrossed. With the passage of that bill, the formation of
Onslow Precinct [County] was legally complete and valid (Ibid.:
IV, 96, 137; Sharpe 1955b:19) and the precinct boundaries were
slightly modified. The White Oak River from its mouth to the
head thereof became the north [east and northeast] boundary, and
the Bay Swamp or Beasley's Creek became the south [west and south-
west] boundary. In addition, the bill set up a parish of the
Church of England co-extensive with the precinct boundaries and
named it St. John's Parish. The bill further declared the several
courts already held for Onslow Precinct to be valid and made all
the proceedings and administrative acts of the precinct government
to have legal force and validity (Clark 1895-1907:XXIII, 120).

The bill confirming Onslow Precinct paved the way for
the seating of Onslow's representatives at the next session of
the Colonial Assembly and put the new precinct on a solid legal
footing. With the consent of the Lower House in the passage of
the bill, objections could no longer threaten the legality or
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constitutionality of the new precinct's existence. Thus, by
act of Assembly, the formation of Onslow County was complete.
Despite several later efforts to change its boundaries,
Onslow has retained its boundaries unaltered since 1735, and
all its transactions have been declared valid extending back
to its first court session in January, 1732 (N.S.).

3. The Early Courthouses on New River

With the formation of the new precinct came the need
for an Onslow courthouse. The importance of the county's early
courthouses to the present research stems from the fact that the
county's first three courthouses were located within the present
study area. In addition, many sessions of court were held in
private homes, most of which were located in the study area also.

For many years it has been understood that the first
Onslow courthouse was located on what is now called Courthouse
Bay and that the bay derived its present name from the fact that
it was the location for the original courthouse (Brown 1960:11,
15; Powell 1968:122). The name, Courthouse Bay, began to be
applied quite early, and it appears in a deed dated as early as
21 January 1746, 01d Style; 1747, New Style (Gwynn 1961:41).
However, until the present research, the details about the first
courthouse had not come to light.

It now appears that Onslow County's first courthouse
was located on land then owned by John Williams on what is today
called Jarrott's Point. The building was probably a small log
structure which had been hurriedly constructed about the time
Williams acquired the land and which Williams agreed to let the
county use for its first courthouse until other arrangements
could be made. The earliest transfers on the property containing
the original courthouse site are not recorded in the Onslow
County records. Therefore, the evidence has been pieced together
from several sources.

The Onslow court minutes for all court sessions held in
1732 show that the court met each time in a house belonging to
John Williams. The minutes of the January term of the Onslow
court, 1731, Old Style (1732, New Style), show that the use of
Williams's house was anticipated to be only a temporary measure
and that from the beginning the county justices planned to build
a courthouse specifically for county use. The abovementioned
minutes contain the following record:
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Ordered that therzs is [be?] a court house built on

the land of Mr. John Williams [,] late of Bertie [,]

to be built with brick [,] twenty foot long and sixteen
foot wide within the walls [,] and the s[ai]d John
Williams obliges himself to give half an acre on the
tract of land where he now lives to build the s[aild

court house on and to pass a deed for the same and
acknowledge it in open court when thereunto required.

John Williams, known to be a main promoter of the New
River settlement, had apparently offered the county two accomoda- .
tions: (1) he would give the county a half acre for the courthouse
site if they wanted to put a building thereon, and (2) he would
permit them to use an already existing house belonging to him
until such time as a courthouse could be built. The January and
April terms of court for 1732 had been held in Williams's house,
where the first session considered placing the courthouse on
Williams's property but the second session authorized a committee
of two justices to select a courthouse site at the most convenient
location. The two justices, Joseph Mumford and Richard Nixon,
were empowered to buy a piece of land wherever they might see
convenient and to enter into an agreement with a workman to build
a courthouse on the selected site. The court specified that the
courthouse should be 28' long by 16' wide (Onslow County Court
Minutes for the April term of court, 1732). The new plans for
the courthouse reflectad an increase in dimensions over the 20'
X 16' size which the court had specified three months earlier.
In addition, the plans did not specify the use of brick as con-
struction material. Apparently, there was also some opinion
developing that the site on Williams's property was not the most
convenient or desirable location, probably in view of the fact
that it definitely was not centrally located.

With the county wanting to build a new courthouse else-
where but efforts getting off to a very slow start, John Williams
came before the Onslow court at its July term, 1732, and gave his
"free consent that this house where the court now sits shall be
for the use of this Precinct of Onslow on free:cost to the slai]d
Precinct for his Majesty's Justices to hold court in as long as
they shall sele] convenient or till the Precinct be established
and confirmed that they may know where to build a courthouse for
the conveniency of the Precinct." Nothing in the July, 1732, court
minutes specifies whether the house used by the Onslow court was
also being used for other purposes. The fact that according to
the record Williams offered "this house," rather than "my house"
or "his house,” may indicate that the structure used by the court
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was otherwise unoccupied at the time. If the buildirng belonging
to Williams was being used exclusively by the county court, that
fact would help explain the reason why the building came to be
popularly considered the county's first courthouse and thus gave
its name to the neighboring bay.

The offer of the use of Williams's house included the
phrase, "till the Precinct be established and confirmed...."
It should be remembered that objections to the creation of the
new precinct had arisen and that the matter remained unsettled
for over three years. 1In the light of the uncertain fate of the
new precinct, it was quite practical to use an existing structure
for the meetings of the court rather than to risk an expenditure
for the cost of a new building prematurely.

The next problem in the research was to prove that the
tract of land belonging to John Williams and containing the
temporary courthouse was on Jarrott's Point and bordered Court-
house Bay. The problem was further compounded by the fact that
the Onslow records contain no land conveyances for John Williams
involving the Jarrott's Point land. It is possible that such
earlier transfers may have been recorded in Carteret or New
Hanover precincts, but it is also possible that those records may
have been destroyed in the hurricane of 1752 if they had been
recorded in Onslow.

The first clue to the association of Williams's land
with Jarrott's Point comes from a deed written on 2 April 1749.
In that deed Nathanial Averitt sold 130 acres to John Jarrott for
50 pounds. The land was described as located on New River at the
Widow Lewis's line, adjoining Haynes Creek and land formerly
belonging to Charles Royall but then belonging to John Humphrey
[should be John Hansley]. The deed explained that the land had
belonged to John Williams, who sold it to Roger Moore on 4
November 1736. Moore sold the land to James Lipsey on 25 March
1742, and Lipsey in turn sold it to Nathaniel Averitt on 1 August
1743 (Gwynn 1961:55).

Since John Hansley owned the adjoining land, the land
records for Hansley were checked. It was found that on 19 Decem-
ber 1744 Charles Ryal [Royall] sold 100 acres to John Hansley on

the east side of New River at Richard Whitehurst's line (Ibid.:32).

When John Hansley sold the same land to Henry Brown on 21 January
1746, 0ld Style (1747, New Style), he described the 100 acres as
situated on the northeast side of New River at Courthouse Bay and
at Jacob Lewis's line (Ibid.:41). Thus it appears that "the Widow
Lewis's line" mentioned in the 1749 deed from Averitt to Jarrott
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was the same as "Jacob Lewis's line" in the 1747 deed from

Hansley to Brown. When the Hansley deed mentions Courthouse
Bay, any remaining doubt is removed. Furthermore, on 8 July
1747 Henry Brown conveyed the same 100 acres to Benjamin
Hansley, infant son of John Hansley (Ibid.). Therefore, for
all practical purposes, the tract of land adjoining Nathaniel
Averitt's 130 acres in 1749 "belonged" to John Hansley as the
natural guardian of his infant son. Thus because the 130 acres
conveyed from Averitt to Jarrott occupied a point of land sur-
rounded by water, the only lines of adjoining property were
those of the Widow Lewis and John Hansley, whose surname Gwynn
(1961:55) mistakenly transcribed as Humphrey.

In conclusion, the land which John Jarrott bought of
Nathaniel Averitt bordering John Hansley's land on Courthouse
Bay had to be the point of land which today still goes by the
name of Jarrott's Point. There--somewhere along Jarrott's Point
and Courthouse Bay--was located Onslow's first courthouse, a
house which though originally built for other use was in 1732
granted rent-free to the county by John Williams for the use of
the precinct court until a larger, more centrally located court-
house could be built. For once, at least, the documentary
sources and oral tradition appear to agree: in a personal inter-
view in 1980 Mrs. Nona M. Marine, a former resident of the Camp
Lejeune area, had stated that lifelong residents of Marines, N. C.,
had told her that the Jarrott's Point land which she and her late
husband, John Marine, owned was the site of the first Onslow
courthouse. .

Beginning in 1733 the court minutes record the precinct
court as held "at the Court House on New River" (Onslow County
Court Minutes for the April and July terms of court, 1733, and the
July term of court, 1734). Since nothing in the court minutes
indicates that the county had built a new courthouse, it appears
that the court was still meeting in the house belonging to John
Williams, and the minutes do seem to indicate that the building
was by then being officially referred to as the courthouse. How-
ever, the Onslow County Court Minutes for 1735 reflect that for
some reason the county was by then no longer using John Williams's
building for a courthcuse. 1Indeed, the July ccurt was held at
the house of Christian Heidelberg, whereas the January and
Octobeyr, 1735, court sessions were held at the house of Joseph
Howard™ (Onslow County Court Minutes for the January, July, and

8Both Heidelberg and Howard lived within the study area.
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October terms of court, 1735). When John Williams in 1732 had
offered to let the county use his building, it was to be used
until the county was "established and confirmed." The act con-
firming Onslow Precinct was passed in 1735 and Williams may

have considered his offer as having expired. It is also possible
that since Williams sold the land containing the courthouse site
in 1736 he may have been contemplating such a sale early in 1735
and may have informed the county justices to look for another
meeting place. It is likewise possible that Williams's small
building was rapidly becoming too small or that it had been de-
stroyed by fire. One interesting event appears to have occurred
between January, 1732 (N.S.), when Williams was shown to be
living on Courthouse Bay, and January, 1734 (N.S.), when Williams
was identified as living on the Southwest Branch of New River
(Onslow County Court Minutes for the January term of court, 1733,
0ld Style; 1734, New Style). Williams had moved, and this re-
location may have been tied to the court's choice of a new
meeting place. Whatever the reason, the fact is established that
from 1735 and thereafter the Onslow court never again met at John
Williams's place.

Apparently the men appointed earlier to secure a
builder for_the county courthouse had not successfully executed
their task. In July, 1735, the court appointed James Foyle,
Abraham Mitchell, and Christian Heidelberg to the same task of
finding a workman to build a courthouse for Onslow. In addition,
there were notable changes in the size of the courthouse and the
number of buildings to be built. The new plans for the courthouse
called for it to be 30' long and 18' wide. A prison was also
to be built 12' square and was to have a partition in the middle,
evidently to provide two separate cells. The prison grounds were
to be further equipped with a pair of stocks and a whipping post,
and all was to be built on Mrs. Ann Morgan's land on the lower
side of the mouth of Northeast Creek [Paradise Point]. A tax of
20 shillings per poll was to be levied to pay for the cost of
construction, and collection of the tax was to be completed within
three months (Onslow County Court Minutes for the July term of
conrt,“1735}),

The newly appointed committee of three men evidently
acted promptly in the matter of finding someone to build the court-
house; for before the July, 1735, session of court was over, Capt.

The two men appointed earlier, Joseph Mumford and Richard Nixon,
were already dead by 1735 and apparently had been prevented from
accomplishing their task by early deaths.
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John Williams had offered to build the required structures.

The court agreed to pay Williams 400 pounds for building the
courthouse and prison and gave him very explicit instructions

on how to build them. The courthouse dimensions remained 30'

by 18', but the prison size was enlarged to 16' long by 12' wide.
The tax to be levied was increased from 20 to 25 shillings, and
the location of the buildings was to be "any place between
Joseph Howard's house and Russell's line which he [Williams]
shall see convenient for the conveniency of a good spring facing
the corner side of the Northeast Branch of New River..."

(Onslow County Court Minutes for the July term of court, 1735).
The new description of the location, however, does not mean that
the courthouse was not to be built on Mrs. Ann Morgan's land.
Mrs. Morgan's deed for her land indicates that on one side it
joined Russell's line (Gwynn 1961:12). On another side of her
property Mrs. Morgan seems to have been a neighbor of Joseph
Howard, for when the court met in Joseph Howard's house in
January, 1736 [0ld Style; 1737, New Style], Mrs. Morgan was paid
for serving dinner to the jurors (Ibid.:14). The description of
the proposed site as being on the corner [of the point of land]
facing Northeast Creek certainly fits the description in Mrs.
Morgan's deed.

The detailed instructions to the builder called for the
courthouse to be weatherboarded "with feather edge plank," covered
with shingles 2' long, and laid on "workman like." The sills of
the prison were to be 10" by 8", the sleepers were to be laid 4"
apart, and the floor was to be laid with white oak plank 2" thick.
The sides of the prison were to be studded with studs 4" square
and placed 4" apart, with a partition in the middle and weather-
boarded with "clawboards" [clapboards] laid all overhead with
joists 4" apart. The loft was to be laid with inch planks, the
house to be covered with shingles after the same form of the
courthouse, with the pair of stocks and a whipping post. The
courthouse was to be sealed with plank where the justices sit and
to have a table and bars in the form of other courthouses and
"fashionable stairs to go up into the courthouse chambers."

Williams was to finish construction by the end of June, 1736 (Onslow

County Court Minutes for the July term of court, 1735).

However, when the court met again in October, 1735, the
records show that John Williams had declined the bargain to build
the courthouse, and the justices entered into a new agreement with
Joseph Howard and Stephen Howard to build the courthouse on the
same property and according to the same specifications (Onslow
County Court Minutes for the October term of court, 1735).
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Wﬁile the new courthouse was under construction, the
court continued to be held in the home of Joseph Howard in October,
1735; January, 173€; July, 1736; October, 1736; and January, 1737
(Corbitt 1950:165). At the July court, 1736, it was noted that
Joseph Howard had not built the courthouse as specified; and
Samuel James, Ebenezar Holmes, and John Middleton were ordered to
make a survey of the new courthouse (Gwynn 1961:13). The same
court ordered James Morgan and Joseph Howard to raise the funds
(poll tax) for the cost of building the courthouse (Ibid.), and
at the January court in 1737 (New Style) it was reported that
215 pounds, seven shillings, and six pence had been received for
the courthouse (Ibid.). ‘

After April, 1737, all sessions of court were held in
the new courtnouse on Paradise Point until April court, 1744, when
the justices assembled for court and discovered that the court-
house had burned since the court met there in the preceding January
term (Corbitt 1950:165). The court minutes for April, 1744, con-
tain this note: "The court being met at the place where the court
house formerly stood and finding the house by some malishious :
[malicious] and evil disposed person was burnt, they were pleased
to adjourn to the house of John Taylor" (Carraway 1946:29). Thus
the first building specifically built to serve as the Onslow
County courthouse served that purpose only seven years before be-
coming the prey of suspected arson. If the county officials
suspected any particular person as the arsonist, the records do
not reflect that.

Following the one session at the home of John Taylor in
April, 1744, the Onslow court met in private homes at the town of
Johnston until it was destroyed in September, 1752. Thomas Black,
clerk of court, and James Foyle, one of the justices, were paid
for allowing the court to sit at their homes between 1744 and 1752
(Corbitt 1950:165) .

Though Johnston had been incorporated in 1741 to serve
as the county seat, it was not until 4 July 1745--over a year after
the courthouse on Northeast Creek had burned--that the court
ordered a new courthouse to be built at Johnston. The courthouse
was to be a frame building 24' x 16' and was to be located on lot
#148 in Johnston (Gwynn 1961:35). Construction of the new court-
house proceeded very slowly and apparently in stages. In October,
1750, the court ordered James Foyle and Mathew Whitfield [White-
field] to employ a workman to lay the floor and the underpinning of
the courthouse. They made an agreement with Constantine Whitefield
to complete the work for 113 pounds, 8 shillings (old tenor money) .
At the same time Thomas Black was ordered to find someone to erect
a pair of stocks (Onslow County Court Minutes for the October term
of court, 1750).
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Evidently, Constantine Whitefield did not follow through
with his bargain, and Thomas Black did not succeed in finding any-
one to erect the stocks. In July, 1751, the court ordered Mathew
Whitefield, James Foyle, and Richard Wallace--or any two of them--
to find someone to underpin and lay the floor of the new court-
house, which was to have brick one foot up from the ground and
the floor to have brick laid "edge way." They were to contract
someone to make and to lay the brick. Furthermore, since the
new courthouse still had no floor, the justices assembled at the
home of Thomas Black and paid him eight pounds for letting the
court use his house (Onslow County Court Minutes for the July
term of court, 1751). :

In January, 1752 (New Style), the courthouse was still
unfinished, and the court ordered that a tax of six pence be
levied to defray the cost of buying books for the court and
finishing the inside work of the courthouse. 1In addition, it was
ordered that several fines which had been collected by James Foy
over the last two terms of court also be applied toward finishing
the new courthouse, erecting a pair of stocks, and repairing the
jail (Onslow County Court Minutes for the January term of court,
1751, 014 Style; 1752, New Style).

When the last Onslow court held prior to the destruction
of Johnston met in July, 1752, the county had still not found any-
one to complete the work on the courthouse. The minutes record that
since no one had agreed to finish the work John Starkey was .
authorized to make an agreement with someone to finish it. To
assist Starkey in finding a workman, it was ordered that an adver-
tisement "be set up" for anyone who would undertake to finish
the inside of the courthouse and to erect the stocks (Onslow County
Court Minutes for the July term of court, 1752). Before the court
could meet again in October, the hurricane of September; 1752,
struck, blowing away both courthouse and town. Thus the Onslow
court never held a session in the partially built courthouse at
Johnston, and the county's third courthouse--like its second--
came to a violent end.

The Onslow County Court Minutes for the January term of
court, 1753, contain the following introduction: "At a court began
at Johnston and held by adjournment on the first Tuesday in January
being the second (?), 1753. Court met and adjourned to Jonathan
Melton's on the North East [Branch of] New River, by reason [that]
there was no house in Johnston nor no accommodations, the town
being destroyed by a storm." From that session of court, the seat
of county government removed from the Camp Lejeune area. Jonathan
Melton's house was located on Northeast Creek near the old North
East Primitive Baptist Church (Carraway 1946:29), and the court
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regularly met in Melton's house from the time of the destruction of
the Johnston courthouse until July, 1757, when the county seat was
moved to Wantland's Ferry [now Jacksonville] (Ibid.). After the
first three courthouses, all of which had been located within the
present study area, the seat of government departed the Camp Lejeune
area and has remained at Jacksonville ever since.

However, since Joknston had been made the county seat by
act of Assembly, it required another act to repeal the earlier law
and establish the new location of the Onslow courthouse. The new
law, passed in 1755, pointed out that Johnston had not been such a
desirable location after all. The site was not centrally located;
it had a "wide ferry," often impassable and very inconvenient; and
there were no houses for accommodation near the place. The act
establishing Johnston was repealed, and the justices were directed
within six months to erect a courthouse, a prison, a pillory, and
stocks at Wantland's Ferry, where the ferry was thenceforth to be
operated at county expense during court sessions (Clark 1895-1907:
XXV, 329-330).

4. The Town of Johnston

Though prominently mentioned in connection with the early
courthouses, the town of Johnston deserves further discussion. It
was the first community established in the study area and the only
one ever to have been incorporated in Onslow County before the Revo-
lution. Johnston was located approximately 14 miles up New River
from the inlet (U. S. Army Corps of Engineers 1968:9) and was in-
corporated by act of Assembly in 1741. Called an "Act to lay out
a town on or near Mittam's Point on New River by the name of
Johnston," the bill named Samuel Johnston, John Starkey, Jonathan
Freemain [should be Tremain], Samuel James, and James Foil [should
be Foyle] as the town's commissioners. The bill provided for 100
acres on Mittam's Point belonging to Hope Dexter to be laid out in
half-acre lots upon Dexter's consenting to the plan. Convenient
streets and a square for public buildings were to be laid out, and
every person willing to live in the new town was to have liberty
to take up any lot or lots of his choice for 10 shillings (proc-
lamation money), provided such lot or lots had not been previously
taken up by someone else. Hope Dexter was the proprietor of the
development, and the town treasurer was to account with Dexter
yearly on each 25th day of March. Everyone taking up a lot was
required within two years thereafter to build a "good, substantial,
habitable, framed house, not of less dimensions than 24' long and
16' wide. If the owner of the lot failed to comply, his grant or
conveyance automatically became void. Owners of lots were further
obligated to enclose their lots with posts and rails and to keep
them cleared, or else owners would be fined one shilling per month
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for each month they were in violation of the stipulation (Clark
1895-1907:XXIIL, 170-171). ’
The same law obligated the county to hold all its
business, court sessions, and general musters in the town of
Johnston after there were two good houses there that could serve
as fit accommodations for travelers and after two good boats
[ferries] were provided--one on each side of the river--for trans-
porting travelers. The justices were authorized to levy up to
eight pence per year per poll to build a new courthouse and jail
and to provide a ferry at the county's expense (Ibid.). The free
ferry was supposed to operate between Johnston and White House
Point on the east side of New River (Watson 1975:70). "White
House" was, however, a commcn misspelling of the surname White-
hurst. The point now known as Hadnot's Point was in the possession
of the Whitehurst family from 1739 until 1755, when it was sold to
William Hadnot (Gwynn 1961:89). Thus Hadnot's Point was owned by
the Whitehurst family for the full duration of Johnston's existence
and at the time went by the name of Whitehurst Point, where one of
the ferry boats was stationed.” The free ferriage to and from
Johnston, mandated by the 1741 law, was one of the earliest and
most significant stimuli to the development of public transportation
in Colonial North Carolina (Watson 1978:292).

The town, which Hope Dexter on 3 May 1741 (Onslow County
Court Minutes for the May term of court, 1741l) consented should be
laid out on his land, was named Johnston in honor of then royal ’
governor of North Carolina, Gabriel Johnston (Martin 1829:II, 36).
Governor Johnston owned considerable land in Onslow and was brother
to Samuel Johnston, Sr., who was named one of the commissioners of
the town of Johnston. Strangely enough, Governor Johnston's death
followed soon after the destruction of the town named for him (Grimes
1910:187).

When the bill incorporating Johnston was passed, it
required the town to provide two public houses of entertainment
[oxrdinaries] for the benefit of travelers (Watson 1968a:73). The
first public house of any kind which appears in the records for
Johnston was a tavern which Severus Goold was licensed to operate
on 3 January 1743, 0Old Style; 1744 New Style (Onslow County Court
Minutes for the January term of court, 1743, 0Old Style; 1744, New
Style). The tavern was to be operated in Goold's house, which was
probably located just outside the town on the nearby 400-acre tract
which Goold soon sold to John Clitherall on 12 May 1744. Goold's
deed to Clitherall mentioned that the 400 acres contained a "new
dwelling house" (Gwynn 1961:33). The same deed indicates that
Goold had a warehouse and two lots in Johnston, all of which Goold
sold to Clitherall except for "55 feet in the town of Johnston"



(Ibid.). The problem with Goold's deed to Clitherall is simply

that there are no prior deeds on record for Goold which reflect

his having bought lots in Johnston. This lack of deed records

for lots known to have been sold prior to May, 1744, causes some
question as to how many people had actually taken up lots in Johnston.

At present, only a few residents of Johnston can be
identified. On 4 July 1744 Samuel Johnston bought lot #146
(Onslow County Deed Bock A:345-346), though the deed contains
conflicting dates of acquisition. On 4 July 1745, Severus Goold
[Gould] bought lots #45 and #148 (Gwynn 1961:36. Onslow County
Deed Book A:347-348), despite the fact that earlier that same
year the Onslow court had ordered the new courthouse to be built
on lot #148 in Johnston (Gwynn 1961:35). Also on 4 July 1745,
Andrew Murrah [Murray] bought Johnston lot #3, and Jcseph Williams
bought lot #19 (Onslow County Deed Book A:360-361, 363-364). 1In
1745 James Foyle was identified as the treasurer for the town of
Johnston (Onslow County Deed Book A:360, 363).

On 3 October 1745, Severus Goold [Gould] sold lots #146
and #148 in Johnston to Ephraim Chadwick for 500 pounds (Gwynn
1961:37). When Chadwick sold one of his lots to Timothy Bennett, a
mariner, on 13 March 1745 (0ld Style; 1746, New Style), the lot was
described as containing a storehouse known as "Goold's Storehouse"
(Onslow County Deed Book A:418). On 13 January 1748 (0ld Style;
1749, New Style), Ephraim Chadwick sold his other Johnston lot--
#146--to Thomas Black, Onslow clerk of court, in whose house the
court sessions were sometimes held (Gwynn 1961:56).

In July, 1749, the town of Johnston appears to have
received its first ordinary within the town limits when Nicholas
Spinks was licensed to keep an ordinary at his house at Johnston
(Onslow County Court Minutes for the July term of court, 1749).

Once again, there is no prior record showing that Spinks owned land
in Johnston. Consequently, it may never be accurately known how
many of the Johnston lots had been "improved" before the 1752 hurri-
cane blew it all away.

Martin (1829:II, 61) described the hurricane of September, .
1752, as striking Johnston with great severity, blowing down and
destroying the Onslow courthouse, the home of Thomas Black, and
almost every building in town. The county's records were reported
lost, and the town was said to have been so materially injured that
it was abandoned (Ibid.). The Pennsylvania Gazette for 2 November
1752 reported the Johnston destruction and referred to several
houses blown down, many trees uprooted, the corn crops destroyed,
and seven or eight persons killed.
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Because of the great loss of public records, a bill was
passed by the Assembly in 1753 in an effort to remedy that loss to
some extent. The bill mentioned the "violent storm or whirlwind”
of September, 1752, which destroyed Thomas Black's house, where he
as clerk of court was keeping the court records at the time. Most
of the records belonging to the county court were blown away and
destroyed. Therefore, the bill required Onslow landowners to have
their land records re-recorded within two years after passage of
the bill. Since the Onslow court could no longer be held at Johnston
because there were no houses and accommodations left there after the
storm, the bill allowed the justices two years to replace the de-
stroyed courthouse with a new one at Johnston (Clark 1895-1907:XXIII,
387-388). However, as has been previously shown, a bill was passed
in 1755 which moved the county seat to Wantland's Ferry and thus
superseded the 1753 law which would have built another courthouse at
Johnston. In fact, so desolate had Johnston become that the Onslow
County Court Minutes for the July term of court in 1753 contain this
note: "Whereas the prison [at Johnston] is not sufficient since the
storm and as no one lives near it, it is the opinion of the court
that the sheriff may make a prison of his own house or plantation
till further provision is made."

The 100 acres on which Johnston had been laid out comprised
only part of the 640-acre grant which Hope Dexter had received on
1 May 1726. Upon Dexter's death the remaining land descended to
a relative in Massachusetts, who on 24 February 1761 sold to
Richard Ward 320 acres described as being part of the land laid off
for "the town named Johnston on New River." The 320-acre tract was
said to adjoin "Johnstown" on Mittum's Creek (Gwynn 1961:125).

In short time, the former site of Johnston reverted to
farm land, and only the changing of the names of Mittam's Creek
and Mittam's Point to Town Créek and Town Point preserves the old
association of the ghost town with the site of its former location.

5. Growth and Economy in the Colonial Period

When Onslow County was first formed, the number of
families on New River was estimated at 100, and a like number was
probably scattered throughout the rest of the county. By 1746
there were 502 taxables (tithables) in the county, and by 1769 the
number of taxables had grown to 1,216 (see Appendix D). Because
the lists of taxables include only those residents liable for taxa-
tion, no precise population figures can be derived from those lists.
Judging, however, from later census records, the population of Onslow
appears to have reached close to 5,000 by the end of the Colonial
period. '
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Growth in population was attended by the expansion and
diversification of the economy, the rise of loosely dispersed
communities, and the gradual transformation of the county from a
purely pioneer society. Local government became more efficient,
churches were established, and noticeable improvements were made
in transportation and commerce.

The first roads in the county appear to have been nothing
more than cleared paths through the massive forests that occupied
the land. In 1723 the Carteret Precinct court ordered a bridle
road to be laid out from Beaufort to the White Oak River (Brown
1960:29), and in 1726 the same court made Edmund Ennett overseer
of that portion of the road from New River to the Neuse River up
to the point where it intersected with the "crosspath" leading to
the White Oak River (Carteret  County Court Minutes for the March
term of court, 1725, 01d Style; 1726, New Style). The road from
the Neuse River crossed New River at Ennett's Ferry [later known
as Snead's Ferry] and continued southward to the Cape Fear region
(see Figure 4). It was later made a part of the Colonial post
road through the colony, the road over which the mail officially
traveled between Boston, Massachusetts, and Charleston, South
Carolina. In Onslow, the post road extended southward from White
Oak (near Starkey's Creek) to Piney Green, thence to Ward's Mill,
Duck Creek, the area later known as Gillett, and on to Snead's
Ferry as it wound its way to Wilmington (Brown 1960:358). 1In a
letter to the postmaster general on 3 January 1766, Governor Tryon
proposed that "Snead's on New River Ferry" should be one of the
stops on the mail route. Tryon's letter of 24 April 1767 reveals
that Robert Snead was to be one of nine persons in the colony of
North Carolina entrusted with the forwarding of the mail along "the
Road [over which] the General Post is intended to be conveyed"
(Powell 1980:216, 455-456). Thus the old post road over New River
remained throughout the Colonial period the most important--and
therefore probably the best maintained--road in Onslow County.
Even so, it would have seemed by today's standards little more
than a small rural dirt road intersecting with smaller paths as it
passed its way through the southern portion of the county.

To accommodate travelers on the early road across New
River, a ferry was needed. In 1728 Edmund Ennett, who owned land
at the narrowest point on the lower New River, was licensed by the
Carteret Court to operate the ferry (Carteret County Court Minutes
for the June term of court, 1728). The same year the Carteret
court appointed road commissioners to lay out a road on both sides
of New River (Carraway 1946:29), apparently roughly paralleling the
river and connecting the plantations strung out along the river-
banks. On 4 July 1732 the Onslow court appointed John Phillips
overseer and ordered the inhabitants of White Oak River to work on
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along the said road to New River ferry" (Onslow County Court
Minutes for the July term of court, 1732). Throughout the Colonial
period of Onslow's history, commissioners [overseers] of roads
supervised the residents in laying out and maintaining the county's
roads. The county was divided up into districts, and all able-
bodied residents were obligated to contribute their labor toward
the upkeep of the public roads within their district.

"the King's Road" from Neuse River "so far as their part extends .

As late as 3 April 1733, the "King's Road" connecting New River
and the White Oak River had still not been completed, and all in-~
habitants of the districts involved were ordered to work on the
King's Road from New River ferry to the White Oak "till the King's
Road be finished" (Onslow County Court Minutes for the July term of
court, 1733). Then in 1736 the inhabitants on the west side of New
River petitioned the court for a new road to be laid out; and on
6 July 1736 the Onslow court appointed Henry Rhodes, Sr., James
Gurganus, and Edward Wood commissioners of roads with responsibility
for laying out the new road (Gwynn 1963:13). By a comparison of
18th-century maps with the court records in which the early roads
were authorized, it would appear that by the mid-1700's the county's
major roads had already been established. As improvements continued
to be made for the county's travelers, the court in September, 1764,
directed the overseers of the roads to erect mile posts along the
public roads (Onslow County Court Minutes for the September term of
court, 1764).

In January, 1733, 0Old Style (1734, New Style), the Onslow
court established the second ferry location in the present study
area. The court ordered a road laid out from Joseph Howard's
plantation on the North East Branch of New River to the Chapel
Spring on the Mill Run and a ferry across the North East Branch
established at Howard's plantation (located on what is now known
as the Paradise Point area). Howard was to be allowed 15 pence
for transporting a single individual or two shillings and six
pence for transporting a man and horse over his ferry (Onslow
County Court Minutes for the January term of court, 1733, 0ld
Style; 1734, New Style),

In the meantime, "the lower ferry over New River" was
evidently a profitable undertaking, and additional ferrymen soon
entered upon the scene. When Ennett was licensed to operate a
ferry over New River in 1728, he evidently operated from the point
of land on the south side of the river, and Moseley's 1733 map
shows Ennett's Ferry on the south shore (see Figure 4). But a
ferry only from the south side made a disadvantage for travelers
approaching from the north side. Accordingly, on 3 October 1732
Christian Heidelberg petitioned the Onslow court for permission to
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operate a ferry over New River from the north side (Onslow County
Court Minutes for the October term of court, 1732), and on his 1733
map Moseley shows "Heidelberg's Ferry" on the opposite side of

New River from Ennett's Ferry (see Figure 4). However, Edmund
Ennett died early in 1735 (Grimes 1910:113), and it appears that
Arthur Averitt (Gwynn 1961:211) was probably the one who took over
operation of the ferry from the south side of New River after
Ennett's death. An advertisement in the North Carolina Gazette for
15 November 1751 offered for sale a 640-acre tract of land on New
River near Everard's [should be Everett's as a corrupted spelling
of Averitt's] Ferry.

Heidelberg's Ferry continued to operate for several years,
and Christian Heidelberg was still owner of the ferry on the north
side of New River at the time: of his death. A law passed in 1735
named Heidelberg's Ferry as a place where the residents of New
River could pay their quit rents (Clark 1895-1907:XXV, 218). 1In
his will Heidelberg left land joining the lower ferry to Frances
Phillips, evidently Heidelberg's daughter and possibly the wife of
John Phillips. The copy of Heidelberg's will in the Onslow records
is incorrectly dated 13 January 1730, 0ld Style; 1731, New Style
(Gwynn 1961:18). 1In the will Heidelberg identifies himself as
living in Onslow Precinct; and since Burrington's order creating
Onslow was not issued until 23 November 1731, Heidelberg could not
possibly have guessed he was living in a then future Onslow. The
date is evidently an error in transcription and probably should
have been 1739. At the July, 1738, court Heidelberg was appointed
a commissioner of roads (Ibid.:16) and probably did not die until
sometime in the period 1739-1741, most likely early 1741. His
executors were still selling off his estate in 1744 (Ibid.:35).
Though the records so far examined do not reveal who next operated
the ferry after Heidelberg's death, it seems probable that it was
run by Frances Phillips and/or her husband for a while.

Since Richard Whitehurst later owned the Ferry Point
land, it is possible he also may have operated the north ferry over
New River for a while. However, in 1759 Whitehurst sold the lower
ferry land on the north side of the river to his son-in-law, Robert
Snead, who operated the ferry through the rest of the Colonial
period (Ibid.:115). Deeds in 1764 indicate that Robert Snead had
made his home on the Ferry Point (Ibid.:145), where he also operated
a tavern and ordinary for the travelers who used his ferry (see
Appendix E). 0ddly enough the modern community named Snead Ferry
is located downstream on the opposite side of New River from the
site of Snead's plantation and ferry. Modern Sneads Ferry is a
misplaced place name.
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In 1768 John McKinney appears to have been operating the
lower ferry from the south side of New River. He was identified
as a ferryman when licensed in July, 1768, to keep a tavern at
the lower ferry (Onslow County Court Minutes for the July term of
court, 1768). According to John Collet's 1770 map of North
Carolina, Snead was still operating the ferry from the north side
of New River, but the ferry from the south side in 1770 was
identified as Lewis's Ferry. The New River Ferry at Snead's was
nothing elaborate. During the Colonial period the lower ferry
over New River was a boat described as an "ordinary bauble" which
floated no more than two or three inches above the water (Watson
1975:69) .

Under the section on the town of Johnston, considerable
information has been given regarding the Johnston Ferry, which
operated from Mittam's Point [now Town Point] and from Whitehurst's
Point [now Hadnot's Point]. The Johnston Ferry, authorized in
1741, probably ceased operation sometime after Johnston was de-
stroyed in 1752, and the new courthouse at Wantland's Ferry [now
Jacksonville] was authorized in.1755. An undated, pre-Revolutionary
petition was presented to the Onslow justices requesting a ferry
across New River at O0ld Town Point. The occurrence of the name
0ld Town Point in the petition makes it certain that the document
was prepared after the destruction of Johnston in 1752 and that it
was a request for resumption of the discontinued ferry service,
probably submitted in the early 1770's. It is not presently known
what action was taken upon the petition (Onslow County Miscellaneous
Records--Ferry Records, N. D., 1774-1906--North Carolina Division
of Archives and History).

Though small roads leading into the major ones continued
to appear in the county, the three major roads of the Coionial
period in Onslow remained the two roads which roughly paralleled
either side of New River and the old post road which entered the
county at present-day Belgrade and crossed New River at Snead's
Ferry. Some of the streams were bridged (Gwynn 1961:41, 170, 173,
202), but many of the smaller streams probably had only corduroy
crossings made by laying logs side by side across the bottoms of
the branches and swampy areas. Land transportation progressed
slowly, and water transportation remained for many citizens of
Colonial Onslow the better mode of travel. One of Onslow's dis-
tinct advantages was a good river system, unlike most other
eastern North Carolina counties. With New River twisting through
the heart of the county and the White Oak River along with the
tributaries of both rivers affording good internal navigation,
Onslow's river system served the inhabitants well from the begin-
ning (Bellamy 1977:340).
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The economic growth of Colonial Onslow rested primarily
on agriculture and forest products. From the beginning, farming
was carried on in Onslow and was centered around the major rivers
and the more desirable lands beyond. The agrarian character of
Onslow's Colonial society proved representative of the county for
the first two centuries of its history. Basically a region of
small farms, the study area devoted its earliest.and greatest
agricultural efforts to the cultivation of corn and the produc-
tion of livestock (Bellamy 1977:340, 343). 1In the early days
cattle were pastured on the natural meadows and wire-grass ridges of
the uplands during the summer months and on the marsh grasses and
sedges along the sound during the winter months. The same practice
was reported to be continued by some residents of the study area
as late as 1923. Colonial settlers of Onslow were reported to
have driven their cattle to Fayetteville (then known as Cross
Creek) for market (Jurney et al. 1923:103). Because barrier islands
and marshlands were extensively used in Colonial times for live-
stock raising in North Carolina (Littleton 1979b:10-13), Onslow was
well suited to animal husbandry; and large numbers of cattle, sheep,
and hogs were produced both for local consumption and for the out-
side market.

In addition to corn, several other agricultural products
were apparently raised in Onslow County for export. The various
acts regulating the inspection of exports during the Colonial
period appointed inspection points in Onslow where shipments of
rice, indigo, flour, flax, flax seed, hemp, butter, beef, and pork
were to be examined prior to being exported out of the county
(Clark 1895-1907:XXIII, 641, 791; XXV, 313, 379). The fact that
the above laws did not enumerate corn and peas, both of which were
the subjects of Governor Tryon's executive order on 12 February
1767 temporarily forbidding their exportation from Onslow (Powell
1980:422), proves that there were many other valuable agricultural
products produced in Onslow which were not reflected in the Colonial
export regulations. The same principle holds true with the number

0Corn is the crop primarily mentioned in the deed records. Thomas
Crawford had a corn field in 1741 (Onslow County Deed Book A:17-
18), and Phillip Dexter's corn field was mentioned in 1752 (Gwynn
1961:64). When a scarcity of corn developed in the colony as a
result of a shortage in the 1766 growing season, Governor William
Tryon issued an order prohibiting the exportation of corn and
peas from any port in Onslow County between 12 February and 20
April 1767 (Powell 1980:422).
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of Colonial planters or farmers: though relatively few men were
identified as planters in the county records, in actuality the farm-
ing class represented the vast majority of the population.

The seasonality and diversity of early occupations also
must be taken into consideration. Most Colonial citizens, in order
to survive economically, had to have more than one skill or source
of income. Some planters operated mills as a second occupation,
while others were blacksmiths, gunsmiths, coopers, wheelwrights,
saddlers, cordwainers, carpenters, or shipwrights on the side.
Since the early citizens who listed their occupations in their
deeds or wills usually identified only one of their occupations,
it is somewhat difficult to realize how extensively early resi-
dents of the study area relied on multi-occupational sources of
income. Because farming was a seasonal occupation, planters
especially adapted themselves to a second occupation during the
winter months. For some planters, the period between the fall
harvest and the spring planting season was the portion of the year
devoted to fishing, clamming, and oystering. For most planters
and small farmers, however, it was the season for turning one's
attention to the care of their "turpentine orchards" and prepara-
tions for the production of next year's naval stores. The
gathering of the turpentine would take place between April and
early November (or the beginning of frost) (Bellamy 1977:343).

Economically, no occupation in Colonial Onslow was more
important than the naval stores industry. Naval stores production
appears to have had the first major occupational appeal to the
settlers of Onslow. The vast pine forests were too obvious an
economic resource. In his account of the New World published in
1590 and based on his 1587 voyage to North Carolina, Thomas Hariot
(1972:8) listed among the region's merchantable commodities such
prominent items as pitch, tar, rosin, and turpentine. Hariot com-
mented, "There are those kinds of trees which yield them [naval
stores products] abundantly and in great store" (Corbitt 1953:71;
Lefler and Powell 1973:16). Of no place in North Carolina were
Hariot's words more applicable than Onslow County and the study
area.

h : { ;

~lUsually spelled cordwiner in the Onslow records, a cordwainer
was a worker in leather or a shoemaker. The term is now obso-
lete (Leary and Stirewalt 1980:90).
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. It is not surprising, therefore, that from the begin-
ning of the county's history both large plantations and the
naval stores industry flourished along New River, White Oak
River, Queens Creek, Bear Creek, and Stone's Creek (Bellamy 1977: |
349). The turpentine trade was carried on by water, and the
numerous creeks and streams of the study area certainly facili- |
tated that trade (Ibid.:345). In participating so fully in the ' |
naval stores trade. Colonial Onslow was truly representative of
the rest of the colony with respect to its most valuable economic
activity.

Naval stores manufacture was, therefore, one of the two

extensive, commercialized industries for export developed in 18th- :
century North Carolina. Not enly was the naval stores trade the
colony's most valuable export, but it was the only industry in
which North Carolina held first place among the English colonies. |
It has been estimated that seven tenths of the tar, more than half ‘
of the turpentine, and one fifth of the pitch exported to England ‘
from her colonies was produced in North Carolina. In 1705 the
British Parliament passed the Naval Stores Bounty Act, which autho-
rized attractive subsidies on tar, pitch, rosin, and turpentine. To
guarantee that these commodities would be exported only to England, |
the British Parliament in 1706 placed them on the "enumerated
list" (Lefler and Powell 1973:161, 163).

\

rapidly, partly because the industry complemented ordinary farm

work so well. When the soil was too wet to cultivate, farmers

could work in the pine woods. Using the pine trees for turpentine

and tar also aided in the clearing of new land for farm use. Slaves,

when not needed in the fields during the winter months, could be put

to work in the pine woods. Thus areas once considered "hardly fit

for human habitation" suddenly became prized land, centers of the \

colony's most important industry. The vast forests of pine trees |

in Onslow became the greatest source of income and the type of

property associated with the wealthy planter class (Ibid.). The \

availability of large tracts of the piny woods, the seasonality of |
|

‘ Production of naval stores in North Carolina increased

farming, and the institution of slavery qualified the Onslow
planters for a prominent place in the colony's foremost industry.

North Carolina fitted into the British mercantile system
perhaps better than most of the other colonies primarily because
|

-



of the production of naval stores, so eagerly sought by the
British leaders for their navy. It was the same industry which
spurred the development of a valuable export trade in Onslow

and formed the basis of economic prosperity in the county for -

two centuries. Indeed, from 1720 until well into the nineteenth
‘century, North Carolina led the world in the production of naval
stores, and Onslow County and the study area were busy doing their
part to help maintain North Carolina's preeminence in the naval
stores trade (Ibid.:290).

Specific or detailed information on naval stores manu-
facturers in the study area is all too scarce. Place names like
Turpentine Creek (Jurney et al. 1921:map) give evidence of naval
stores manufacture, as do the numerous references to tar kilns or
tar kiln beds in the Onslow deeds. But names of those involved
in production of naval stores often must be identified on the
basis of circumstantial evidence. Appendix E contains a very
fragmentary list of study area residents who manufactured naval
stores. The names of all involved in naval stores iﬂ the study
area, if known, would no doubt be. an enormous list.

Much of the documentation for the early naval stores
trade in the study area, however, comes not from the official
county records, but from the export laws, private collections, and
shipping records. Bellamy (1977:343) writes that "wealth for the
majority of Onslow slaveholders came from naval stores, hides, and
pickled beef and pork." Rogert Hogg's accounts for his New River
Store certainly bear out Bellamy's claim (Robert Hogg Collection,
Account Book 4:402-477, Southern Historical Collection, UNC-Chapel
Hill). 1In addition, the export laws consistently list for Onslcw
County such items as tar, pitch, turpentine, staves, headings,
shingles, and lumber (Clark 1895-1907:XXIII, 641, 791; XXV, 313-
379) . Naval Stores and other forest products were clearly the
major part of Onslow's exports.

12Some area residents associated with naval stores in the deed

records include Jacob Lewis and.James Megines [McGinnis] in

1734 (Gwynn 1961:7); Abraham Mitchell, William Mixon, and John
Todd in 1734 (Onslow County Court Minutes for the October term
of court, 1734); Anthony Dowdall and Charles Ratliff in 1735
(Gwynn 1961:14); Edward Ward in 1743 and 1751 (Ibid.:25, 54);
Joseph Huggins in 1743 (Ibid.:25); Adam Keeling and Horatio James
in 1754 (Ibid.:81); and William Cray and Joseph French in 1758
(I1bid.99)%
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In addition, the naval stores industry was closely
associated with the cooper's trade. Tar, pitch, and turpentine,
as well as pickled beef, pork, and fish, had to be shipped in
barrels or kegs. Thus there arose a heavy demand for coopers,
and at least 18 study area residents (see Appendix E) between
1734 and 1774 were identified in the records as coopers by trade.
That number should no doubt be multiplied many times in order
to approximate the number of those actually engaged in the
trade. Coopering was also a trade in which slaves frequently
engaged, and those slaves skilled as coopers could be hired out
very profitably by their owners. Hogg's Account Book #4 (Robert
Hogg Collection, Southern Historical Collection, UNC-Chapel Hill)
reflects at least three slaves hired by him as coopers at his
New River store. Thus, both as coopers and as laborers in the
pine woods, slaves provided the foundation on which the naval
stores industry in the study area rose and expanded (Bellamy
1977:347) .

With respect to industry which was important to the
Colonial economy, Bellamy (1977:343) has written that "the only
industry in Onslow which vied with naval stores for first place
in the economy was grist milling." As early as 3 July 1733 Charles
Ratliff petitioned the Onslow court for permission to build a
water-powered grist mill on Rhodes's Creek, a tributary of the
Stone's Bay area (Onslow County Court Minutes for the July term of
court, 1733). In the study area, centers of milling activity were
located between Stone's Bay and Southwest Creek, at French's Creek,
and along Wallace's Creek. Study area mill owners included
Christian Heidelberg in 1737 (Gwynn 1961:14), William Hadnot (Onslow
County Court Minutes for the April term of court, 1744) and Abraham
Mitchell in 1744 (Gwynn 1961:35), Henry Rhodes in 1745 (Ibid.),
Job and Cornelius Bumpass in 1746 (Ibid.:54), William Devall and
Horatio Woodhouse in 1751 (Ibid.:62), Luke John Morgan and Henry
Simmons in 1770 (Ibid.:207, 228), and William Lester in 1775
(Onslow County Court Minutes for the April term of court, 1775).
For additional information on mills and their owners, see Appendix F.

Erection of sawmills appears to have occurred later than
grist mills in Onslow. The earliest method of sawing lumber
employed in Onslow was probably the saw pit (see Figure 6). A
branch located on the plantation whereon Edward Marshburn lived
and died was named Sawpit Branch (Gwynn 1961:88-89, 122) and
appears by that name in the deed records as early as 1755. The
name of Sawpit Branch, a tributary of Marshburn's Great Branch
[now known as Hicks's Run], implies that Marshburn or one of the
early owners of the land succeeding him must have operated a saw
pit nearby for sawing logs into planks. The first hint of a
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sawmill operating within the study area occurs in a 1744 deed

in which Samuel James obligates his son, Joshua James, to deliver
to the wife and other children of Samuel James 25,000 feet of

good lumber within 15 years from 1744 (Ibid.:32). The indications
are that during the Colonial period sawmilling fell far behind
grist milling in economic importance in the study area.

In addition to those trades or crafts mentioned in pre-
vious pages, the early records also mention the existence of brick
kilns. A deed from William Cray to John Sallier on 26 October 1753
mentjions a brick kiln then located on Duck Creek or New River 1n
the vicinity of Duck Creek (Ibid.:79).

One of the more unusual industries for which some
evidence appears in the early Onslow records is that of whaling.
In 1735 a whale boat having belonged to James Haines, deceased,
was then in the possession of Henry Rhodes, who was ordered to pay
the orphans of Haines for the whale boat (Onslow County Deed Book
A:3). 1In 1767 Elizabeth Ward left a whale kettle in her will to
her son, Seth Ward (Onslow County Wills, 1746-1863, Volume 4, p. 46,
N. C. Division of Archives and History); and that same year Benjamin
Ward bequeathed a whale boat to Nathaniel Hancock (Ibid., p. 41).
Since whaling is known to have been an economically important indus-
try in neighboring Carteret County during the Colonial period (Muse
1961:3-6; Littleton 1961:11-23), it should not be surprising to
find evidence of whaling activity in Colonial Onslow.

The extreme fewness of those study area residents identi-
fying themselves as mariners (see Appendix E) certainly belies the
considerable port activity that developed very early in Onslow's
history. The best inlet in the study area for trade purposes was
Bear Inlet. While New River Inlet is estimated as having only
three to five feet of water on the bar at low tide for most of the
eighteenth century, the depth of Bear Inlet appears during this
time to have ranged from eight to 11 feet in depth (Crittenden 1930:
437, Cumming 1969:34, Wimble 1738). As early as 1746/7, while Bear
Inlet was in the Port Beaufort customs district, Thomas Lovick was
appointed duty receiver for all liquor and rice loading or unloading
in Core Sound or at Bear Inlet (Clark 1895-1907:XXIII, 270). 1In
1752 John Spooner was appointed inspector for the inlets in Onslow
County (Ibid.:XXIII, 381); and inspection laws passed in 1755, 1758,
and 1764 named Bogue Inlet, Bear Inlet, and New River Inlet as
inspection points for exports (Ibid.:XXxV, 313, 379, and XXIII, 641).
In 1770 the number of inspection points in Onslow was expanded to
include Weeks's Landing [Swansboro], Todd's Landing, and French's
Landing (Ibid.:XXIII, 791). By 1770, therefore, four of the six
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inspection points in Onslow County were inside the present study
area.

With the early prosperity of Onslow County hinging on
accessibility to the sea, it is understandable that there would
be great concern in the study area about improving connections
through the nearby inlets. Likewise, since Bear Inlet was much
superior to New River Inlet and since Brown's Inlet and Little
Inlet were worthless to the export trade, the only logical choice
was to try to improve the inland navigation from New River to
Bear Inlet. As early as 1741, the Colonial Assembly had passed
an act to improve New River navigation (Clark 1895-1907:XXIII,
163); but very little is known about whatever effort was actually
made, and the improvements accomplished--if any--apear to have
been meager and short-lived. Consequently, in 1760 a new bill
was passed, concentrating proposed improvements on the navigation
betweeen Howard's Bay on the east side of the mouth of New River
and the county's deepest outlet to the sea at Bear Inlet (Ibid.:
XXIII, 510-511).

The act to amend and improve the navigation from Howard's
Bay to Bear Inlet was introduced by John Starkey on 9 May 1760
(Saunders 1886-1890:VI, 387) in response to a petition of a number
of Onslow County citizens. The bill, amended and passed on 13 May
1760, was assented to by the governor on 23 May 1760 (Ibid.:VI,
358, 361, 397, 419). The purpose of the bill was to "allow loaden
pettiaguas and other bcats of 50 barrels burthen to pass and repass
from New River to Bear Inlet." Richard Ward, Stephen Lee, and
John Melton were named commissioners to contract for the improve-
ments to be made at a cost not exceeding 120 pounds. The bill
provided for the cost to be paid by selling the powder and lead in
the hands of the powder receivers in the county. If the powder
money should prove insufficient, then the justices of the county
were authorized to pay the balance out of the county tax (Clark
1895-1907:XXIII, 510-511).

The importance of the foregoing legislation lies in
the fact that it was some of the earliest "internal improvement"
legislation in North Carolina's history. A real precedent was
set the next year when another law for the same purpose was
passed but altered the source of funding. The 1761 act made ref-
erence to the act of 1741, noting that the commissioners appointed
under that act were dead and that the funds had been too small.
William Cray, Richard Ward, and Henry Rhodes--all three being
residents of the study area--were appointed the new commissioners
to contract for clearing away and removing the rock or shell and
cutting through the marsh fronting New River Inlet. The limits on
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the cost of improvements were raised to 200 pounds, and the com-
missioners were made managers of a lottery for the purpose of
raising the necessary funds. The managers of the "New River
Lottery" were authorized to issue 1000 tickets to sell for 30
shillings each, and the lottery was to be held at the courthouse
(Ibid.:XXIII, 542-544; Parker 1928:133).

The historic significance of the New River Lottery is
that it was the first lottery ever held by approval of the Assembly
and the governor of North Carolina. All laws passed by the Colonial
Assembly were engrossed and copies thereof sent to England for
routine examination. When the 1761 act creating the New River
Lottery was received in England, the Lords Commissioners of Trade
and Plantations disapproved very strongly and wrote back to North
Carolina that such a mode of raising money "ought never to be
countenanced nor admitted in the British colonies" (Martin 1829:
II, 165). But the Lords Commissioners were too late: the lottery
had already been held before their reaction was known in North
Carolina. The poor state of Onslow navigation had driven the law-
makers to find an innovative solution--the first officially
sanctioned, public lottery in the history of North Carolina.

The degree of success achieved by the lottery-financed
improvements is not known, but repeated attempts to improve New
River navigation in later years certainly prove that any improve-
ments accomplished were quite temporary. The fact, however, that
the Assembly acted so promptly and favorably upon the Onslow
petition for navigation improvements does prove that the potential
of the New River trade and the activities of the New River merchants
were well known. The extensive naval stores trade relied on com-
merce by sea, as did the extensive export market for deer skins
[hides], pickled beef, and pork (Bellamy 1977:343). Merchants, in
the Colonial sense of exporters/importers, had operated on New
River almost from the creation of the county. Though the records
reflect only a small percentage of the merchants who actually
engaged in trade on New River, their presence is reflected as early
as 1741/2. Gibbin [Gibbeon] Jennings was listed as a merchant in
1742 (New Style) on New River (Gwynn 1961:20), and in 1748 Edward
Ward, Jr., was identified as a merchant on Brown's Sound (Ibid.:48).
Jennings was still operating as a merchant in 1752 (Ibid.:70, 79).

Though apparently living just outside the study area,
Richard Farr was a New River merchant who probably bought from
those residing within the study area. The North Carolina Gazette
carried an advertisement in October, 1759, announcing the arrival
at Beaufort of the ship, St. Andrew, from London with a cargo of
clothes and dinnerware to trade for tar, deer skins, or fur. The
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vessel's agent was Richard Farr of New River. Then in 1761 James
Howard was listed as a merchant (Gwynn 1961:123), followed by
Richard ward in 1763 (Ibid.:132-133).

: In the end of the Colonial period, some of the New
River exporters/importers were operating stores in the study area.
Robert Hogg came to North Carolina from northern Scotland about
1756 and opened a store in Wilmington. In 1772 he returned to
Scotland briefly. After his return from Scotland, Hogg opened a
store on New River in August, 1774. But when the Revolution be-
came inevitable, he left for England in September, 1775. 1In 1778
Hogg sailed to New York in an effort to prevent the confiscation
of his American properties and died there in 1779 (Andrews and -
Andrews 1939:323-324).

Hogg's account book #4 (Robert Hogg Collection, Southern
Historical Collection, UNC-Chapei Hill) contains records for his
"New River Store." Hogg conducted business with local residents
which indicates that his store was probably within the study area.
Among his first transactions on 4 August 1774 appear the names of
Edward Ward, Rachel Hunter, Elijah Newton, Joseph Garey [Gray?],
Richard Ward, Thomas Yewell, Seth Ward, Elizabeth Dudley, and
John Jarrett (Ibid. 4:402). Later Hogg's accounts show dealings
with William Cray, William Gibbs, and the mercantile firm of
French and Cray (Ibid. 4:409, 417, 419, 428, 432, 438, 448, 459).
The New River store retailed such items as bread (in barrels),
sugar (in loaves), Keyser's pills (medicine), men's hose, and other
sundries (Ibid. 4:404, 409, 419, 432, 434, 448, 464). At New River
Hogg bought primarily naval stores during his less than two years
of operation: 3 barrels of tar; 34 barrels of pitch; 1,509 barrels
of turpentine; and 79 barrels listed simply as naval stores (Ibid.
4:417, 419, 425, 426, 428, 448, 456, 464, 477).

Hogg's store appears to have ceased operation at New
River shortly after April, 1775 (Ibid. 4:477), when the last entry
for the store appears in Hogg's account books. However, French
and Cray probably continued to operate on into the Revolution.
Several other study area residents appear actively engaged in trade
right on up to the eve of the Revolution. In 1775 the sloop Cynthia
was engaged in carrying naval stores from New River to Brunswick
and Wilmington, bringing back to New River sugar, rum, salt, hard-
ware, and general merchandise (Onslow County Miscellaneous Records,

13 G a
Probably William Cray, Sr., and Joseph French, Jr.
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Shipping Records, N.D., 1773-1909, N. C. Division of Archives

and History). On 7 December 1775 William Gibbs of New River
applied to the Wilmington Committee of Safety to charter a vessel
at Cape Fear River to load a cargo of naval stores which he had

at Cape Lookout and at Bogue [the then current name for Swansboro].
Though denied at Wilmington, Gibbs's application reveals that he
was deeply involved in the naval stores trade on the southern
coast of North Carolina (McEachern and Williams 1974:68).

As might be expected, the economic prosperity and
industrial development experienced by the study area during the
Colonial period were accompanied by the rise_ qof public accommoda-
tions in the form of taverns and ordinaries. The first tavern
appearing in the records for the study area was one operated by
Ishmael Taylor on Wallace's Creek in 1742 (Onslow County Court
Minutes for the October term of court, 1742). Taylor's tavern was
on the King's Road which passed from Piney Green to an intersection
with the road from New Bern to Wilmington near Snead's Ferry.
Taylor's tavern license was renewed a little over a year later,
and he may have operated the tavern longer than the court records
reveal (Onslow County Court Minutes for the January term of court,
1743, 0Old style; 1744, New Style). The same session of court also
granted a tavern license to Henry Rhodes in the Stone's Bay area
(Ibid.). 1In 1755 the license issued to Rhodes used the term
ordinary (Onslow County Court Minutes for the October term of court,
3755) .

Other study area residents receiving tavern or ordinary
licenses during the Colonial period include the following: Edward
Ward, Jr., in 1751 (Onslow County Court Minutes for the April and
October terms of court, 1751); Arthur Averitt on south side of
New River at the ferry in 1753 (Onslow County Court Minutes for
the October term of court, 1753); Joseph French in 1757, 1763,
1770, and 1775 (Onslow County Court Minutes for the January term
of court, 1757; the March term of court, 1763; the July term of
court, 1775; and the 1770 Collet Map of North Carolina [see
Figure 7]); Robert Snead in 1758, 1760, 1770, 1771, 1772, and 1775
(Onslow County Court Minutes for the October term of court, 1758;
the January term of court, 1760; the January term of court, 1770;
the April term of court, 1771; the April term of court, 1772; the

4Taverns for the period are defined as public houses where wine

was retailed. The term tavern was often used interchangeably with
ordinary or inn (Leary and Stirewalt 1980:590). Ordinaries were
public houses where meals were provided at fixed prices and that
frequently served as community social centers (Ibid.:582). 1In
North Carolina, both often accommodated overnight gquests.
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court, 1771; the April term of court, 1772; the April term of
court, 1775; and Watson 1968a:74); Isaac Brinson in 1766 (Onslow
County Coprt Minutes for the March term of court, 1766); John
McKinney in 1768 (Onslow County Court Minutes for the July term
of court, 1768); William Ramsey in 1771 (Onslow County Court
Minutes for the April term of court, 1771); Benajah Doty, begin-
ning as early as 1771, apparently through the rest of the Colonial
period (Onslow County Court Minutes for the April terms of court,
1y & o B 1124, 1775, and the January term of court, 1772); John
Wilkins in 1772 (Onslow County Court Minutes for the April term
of court, 1772); Henry Simmons in 1773 (Onslow County Court Minutes
for the January term of court, 1773); and Jacob Huggins in 1774
and 1775 (Onslow County Court Minutes for the April terms of court,
1774 and 1775).

As previously indicated, it is likely that the foregoing
taverns and ordinaries operated for more years than are documented
by the present research. Other discussion of public accommodations
has been presented under the section dealing with the history of
the county seat town of Johnston. The gradual increase of taverns
and ordinaries, therefore, is seen as a normal consequence of the
growth in population, improvements in roads and transportation,
expansion of the naval stores industry and port activity, and
general economic and agricultural prosperity of the study area.

6. Colonial Wars

During the earliest of the Colonial wars, no European
settlers appear to have been residing in the study area. The
tombstone of Col. Edward Ward declares that he fought in the first
of the Indian wars (apparently the Tuscarora War of 1711-1713),
but at the time Ward was still living in the Core Sound area. Thus
the Tuscarora War did not affect or involve anyone living in the
New River area. :

The first Colonial war to occur after New River had been
settled was called the War of Jenkins's Ear (1739-1744). Begun

1sMcKinney's tavern was probably outside the study area on the

south side of New River opposite Snead's tavern, but it was
intimately associated with operation of the ferry.

16The license issued to Wilkins was for an ordinary on New River -

at the ferry. See deed of William Jones to Wilkins, 14 January

1772 (Gwynn 1961:211). Wilkins's ordinary evidently replaced
McKinney's.

74



as an Anglo-Spanish war, the War of Jenkins's Ear later merged
into an Anglo-French war called King George's War (1744-1748).
This war marked the first time that North Carolina troops served
as part of the British army. North Carolina not only raised
several companies during the war, but also made several large
.appropriations of funds to assist in financing defense efforts
in the colonies. The fate of most of North Carclina's troops
is not known except that one company of 100 men was reduced to
only 25 survivors in their expedition against Cartagena. The
Spanish attacks on shipping during the war had a drastic effect
on ocean-going commerce in North Carolina. 3panish privateers
cruised the North Carolina coast in search of prizes, and it

is estimated that as many as a score of North Carolina vessels
were captured by the Spanish during 1747 (Lefler and Newsome
1963:147, 153-154).

In 1743 the governor and the Council favored raising
troops in North Carolina to assist South Carclina if forces from
Cuba should attack South Carolina. However, such plans would not
have affected the study area, for Governor Johnston and the
Council provided that none of the North Carolina troops should be
raised in the counties of New Hanover, Bladen, and Onslow for two
reasons. The first reason for exempting the three counties was
that, being immediately on the coast, those counties were too
exposed to the attempts of the enemy. The implication was that
any troops Onslow could raise were needed for defense at home.
The second reason given was that those three counties were too
thinly populated and could not spare the men (Saunders 1886-1890:
IV, ©833)<

In a letter from Governor Gabriel Johnston to the Lords
of the Board of Trade, the governor related that "in 1747 several
small sloops and barcalonjas crept along the coast from St.
Augustine, full of armed men, mostly mulattoes and Negroes, their
small draught aiding them from attack." The Spanish vessels from
Florida landed at Ocracoke, Core Sound [Beaufort]; Bear Inlet, and
Cape Fear. The greatest damage was suffered at Cape Fear, but
the depredations continued all the summer of 1747 and led to the
erecting of four forts in the areas where the four landlngs had
occurred (Saunders 1886-1890:1IV, 922-923).

On 26 January 1747, 0Old Style (1748, New Style) four
Spanish crewmen entered Bear Inlet, were taken prisoners, and
Eent off to the Wilmington [New Hanover County] jail. The four
Spaniards--Juan Gudemis, Manuel Rodrigues, Juan Deiadis, and
Gudzlexis del Rosario--were brought before Edward Ward, justice
of the peace, by Capt. John Shippe, who was chief mate of the
schooner Sarah, of which Robert Graves was master. According to
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Capt. Shippe, the Sarah was en route from the Bay of Honduras to
Boston on 10 January 1747 (0ld Style; 1748, New Style), when in
latitude 30°76'N. the Sarah was taken by two Spanish privateers,
Capt. Besent and Capt. Lomann, armed with 16-ton carriage guns.
The privateers took the Sarah's captain on board the privateer
with two of the men belonging to the Sarah and left Shippe with
one foremast man on board the Sarah, along with the four Spaniards
pPreviously named. The Spaniards were ordered to fcllow the priva-
teer in the captured schooner, but they had no [navigation]
instruments or provisions on board. Therefore, the Spaniards
surrendered themselves along with the Sarah to Capt. Shippe to
carry the schooner into the first port he could enter. Thus the
Sarah was brought into Bear Inlet, where the Spaniards were turned
over to Edward Ward, who sent them to the sheriff of New Hanover
County to be kept until they could be carried to some Spanish port
in a Flag of Truce (Clark 1895-1907:XXII, 262).

As a result of the abovementioned Spanish activity, the
Colonial Assembly appropriated 500 pounds for erecting the fort to
guard Bear Inlet. It is not known on which side of Bear Inlet
the fort was built, but its construction was completed for a cost
of only slightly over 309 pounds. Samuel Johnston, Edward Ward,
Jr., Stephen Lee, and John Starkey were appointed commissioners
for erecting the fort, which apparently was never needed because
the Spaniards never returned to Bear Inlet (Saunders 1886-1890:1IV,
919-923; v, 796, 965, 1097, 1101; VI, 121, 142-143, 204; VIII, 213;
Clark 1895-1907:XXIII, 293; Martin 1829:II, 50). The Bear Inlet
Fort was the smallest of the four forts built following the Spanish
Alarm of 1747-1748 (Stick 1958:37), and it is not known when or
from what cause the fort disappeared.

All in all, the War of Jenkins's Ear in Europe did not
have a profound effect on the study area. Since nc troops were
raised from Onslow, the crippling effect of the Spanish pirates
on trade and commerce on the sea was probably the most serious
consequence of the war for the New River settlers.

The next Colcnial war to affect the study area was the
French and Indian War (1754-1763), and on the local scene the
effects of that war were more visible, at least, than the earlier
war. At the outbreak of the French and Indian War, North Carolina
was totally unprepared: there were virtually no public arms and
gunpowder in the colony, and whatever militia existed was unorganized
and untrained (Lefler and Newsome 1963:157). At the beginning,
John Starkey was made colonel of the Onslow militia, which con-
sisted of four companies raised probably near the beginning of
1754. The four Onslow companies and their officers totaled 352
men. Starkey reported that there were no Indians in the county to
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worry about, but neither were there any arms in store (Saunders
1886-1890:V, 163). Like the rest of North Carolina, Onslow was
ill prepared for the French and Indian War.

A general muster of the Onslow militia was called for
2 April 1754 to meet at the home of Jonathan Melton on Northeast
Creek just outside the present study area.<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>